# PHYSICAL FITNESS AND CARDIOVASCULAR FUNCTION IN MULTIPLE SCLEROSIS

BY

# MATTHEW EUGENE PLATTA

## THESIS

Submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science in Kinesiology in the Graduate College of the University of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign, 2015

Urbana, Illinois

Advisers:

Assistant Professor Lara A. Pilutti Associate Professor Robert Motl

## Abstract

Multiple sclerosis (MS) is an immune-mediated neurodegenerative disease that affects the central nervous system. Cardiovascular function (CV) has been shown to be impaired in persons with MS which can lead to the development of comorbidities that can promote disability progression. Cardiorespiratory fitness (CRF) and, to a lesser extent, muscular fitness (MF) have been shown to improve CV function in healthy populations. This thesis examined the relationships between CRF, MF, and exercise presented by randomized controlled trials via meta-analysis. Then, the relationships between CRF, MF, and CV function in persons with MS was determined in order to determine targets for therapy that might improve CV function. Results suggest exercise training improved CRF and MF in RCTs of exercise training examining CRF and MF outcomes. Further, the results of this cross-sectional study indicate significant relationships exist between CRF, MF and CV function in persons with MS. These studies support the potential to improve physiological fitness through exercise training as a possible means to improve CV function in persons with MS. This might be accomplished through exercise training involving aerobic and/or resistance exercise.

# ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I would like to thank my Mother for pushing me when I needed it and my advisor Dr. Lara Pilutti for her help in developing the studies and papers that comprised my thesis. I would also like to thank the Exercise Neuroscience Lab's students and especially its coordinator, my co-advisor, Dr. Robert Motl.

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

Chapter 1: Review of the literature	1
1.1 Introduction and background	1
1.2 Disability and Physical Activity in MS	5
1.3 Physical Fitness	6
1.4 Physical Fitness in MS: Muscular Fitness	7
1.5 Physical Fitness in MS: Cardiorespiratory Fitness	8
1.6 Exercise Training and Physical Fitness in MS	9
1.7 Cardiovascular Function in MS	12
1.8 Purpose and Rationale	16
1.9 References	18
Chapter 2: The effect of exercise training on fitness in multiple sclerosis: A meta-analysis	24
2.1 Introduction	24
2.2 Methods	26
2.3 Results	30
2.4 Discussion	32
2.5 Study Limitations	36
2.6 Conclusion	38
2.7 References	39
Chapter 3: Physical fitness is associated with improved arterial function in persons with M	S45
3.1 Introduction.	45
3.2 Methods	47
3.3 Results	50
3.4 Discussion	51
3.5 Study Limitations	53
3.6 Conclusion.	54
3.7 References	54
Chapter 4: Discussion	58
4.1 Limitations	64
4.2 Future Directions	64
4.3 Conclusion	65
4.4 References	66
Chapter 5: Figures and Tables	68

## Chapter 1

## **Review of the literature**

## 1.1 Introduction and background

Multiple sclerosis (MS) is an immune-mediated neurodegenerative disease that affects the central nervous system (CNS) and can eventually cause disability. MS has prevalence of about 58 of every 100,000 persons in the U.S. Current estimates by the National MS Society estimate the total number of persons living in the U.S. with MS to be above 400,000.<sup>1</sup> MS is occurring at a rate of about 200 new cases each week in the U.S. More cases tend to be diagnosed north of the equator, especially in Europe and North America. In the U.S., a difference in diagnoses rates between those who live above the 37<sup>th</sup> parallel when compared to than those who live below it can be observed. Those who live above the 37<sup>th</sup> parallel develop MS at a higher rate, approximately 110-140 cases per 100,000 people, while those living below the 37<sup>th</sup> parallel develop MS at a lower rate, approximately 57-78 cases per 100,000 people. Underdiagnoses of MS has also been suggested, and would result in a lower estimated prevalence. This could be due to the similarities between symptoms of MS symptoms and other neurological diseases such as Alzheimer's and Parkinson's diseases.

There are genetic and environmental risk factors that influence the development of MS. Gender plays a large factor in risk of MS development with 2.3-3.5 women being diagnosed for every one male diagnoses.<sup>2</sup> This is thought to be caused by different expression of genes between men and women, well as differences in the response to environmental factors that could play a role in the etiology of MS. Race is another factor that influences the risk of MS and is also genetically determined.<sup>3</sup> A higher prevalence for disease occurrence has be proposed to occur in North American descended whites, but this has been contested by other studies suggesting that American blacks have a higher prevalence.<sup>4</sup> Along with these genetic factors, an individual's environment is also largely a predictor for developing MS. Geographical latitude is related to risk of developing MS. The prevalence of the disease is higher in the more northern latitude countries, although an argument could be made that these are largely western countries and have better diagnostic procedures in place. Lower levels of vitamin D have been suggested to be related to risk for MS.<sup>4</sup> The theory of vitamin D's influence on risk of MS relates to exposure to sunlight which is dependent on geographical location. However, MS does not occur at the same rate in geographical areas in the southern hemisphere that receive similar amounts of sunlight as higher locations in the northern hemisphere. Along with sunlight based vitamin D, ingestion of vitamin D has also be proposed as being influential in MS development. Other prominent environmental factors include infection (Epstein barr virus) and smoking. Higher antibody levels for the Epstein-Barr virus have been correlated with increased risk of developing MS. A similar case has been made for increased risk in persons who have been infected with mononucleosis.<sup>3</sup> Although these theories are possible, a causal link between these infections and MS has yet to be determined. Lastly, smoking has been shown to be related to MS risk although again this a correlative relationship. Genetics and environmental factors are two key factors that determine risk of developing MS.

MS is both an inflammatory and neurodegenerative disease affecting the CNS. Although the culmination of these factors initiate a varied pattern of lesion development and subsequent symptom development, progression of the disease eventually follows a similar course toward a neurodegenerative state. Initial stages of the disease involve inflammatory attacks that target

neurons, perhaps due to the development of an anti-myelin antibody that the body has begun to genetically express. These inflammatory attacks lead to histologic trademark damage in the myelin sheath and surrounding oligodendrocytes. The myelin sheath is responsible for expediting the electrical current that travels from neuron to neuron. Oligodendrocytes are responsible for the development of myelin and its repair. The damage in these two structures prevents optimal signal propagation within the CNS. As inflammatory attacks persist, axonal damage becomes seemingly irreversible. Over time, inflammatory episodes lessen and immunoglobulins can be seen, while separated myelin continues to be surrounded and destroyed by immune cells. This state of chronic neuronal injury is seen in those that have usually had MS for a longer period of time.<sup>5</sup>

The pathogenesis of the disease is classified into four types/courses of MS. The most common course is relapsing remitting MS (RRMS), of which 85% are initially diagnosed with. RRMS is characterized by episodic inflammatory attacks that are known as exacerbations or relapses.<sup>6</sup> During these relapses, the patient can be under a great deal of disability. A relapse is defined as a new neurologic symptom lasting for more than 24 hours that has no other explanation.<sup>7</sup> Criteria for relapse involve: (1) Signs of inflammation and demyelination presented through testing or progression of disability; (2) The relapse lasts over 24 hours; (3) The relapse is separated by at least 30 days from a previous relapse; and (4) The relapse is not related to stress, fever or infection. The periods of relapse can have lasting damage on the structure and signaling potential of neurons, as well as functional and symptomatic implications. Remissions are periods between relapses in which symptoms can improve, sometimes completely. These relapses are commonly treated with different steroid treatments which have been shown to decrease the acute impact of relapses.<sup>8</sup> Over time, the course of MS can transition. Most people initially diagnosed

with RRMS will eventually transition to secondary progressive MS (SPMS).<sup>6</sup> SPMS is different from the RRMS because relapses and high inflammation is not as prevalent, but disease progression steadily continues. Two other types/courses of MS also exist. The Primary progressive multiple sclerosis (PPMS) course involves disease progression that is similar to SPMS, but occurs from the onset of the disease.<sup>6</sup> Persons with PPMS have no relapses and have lower basal inflammation that is more common in SPMS. Lesions are also more prevalent within the spinal cord of persons with PPMS as compared to those with RRMS. PPMS involves a steady and continuous increase in disease progression as opposed to the off and on progression seen with RRMS. About 10% of persons with MS have PPMS at disease onset according to the National MS Society. The fourth type of MS is also the least prevalent with only 5% of diagnoses. Progressive-relapsing MS (PRMS) involves a progression similar to PPMS in that a steady disease progression is always occurring, but there are also relapses occurring.<sup>6</sup> Like RRMS and PPMS, PRMS is diagnosed at disease onset.

The general measure of disability in MS is the Expanded Disability Status Scale (EDSS). The EDSS is a scale that ranges from 0 (no disability) to 10 (death) that seeks to identify disability through assessments involving visual, brainstem, pyramidal, cerebellar, sensory, bowel and bladder, and cerebral function as well as ambulation. 0 to 3.0 on the EDSS indicates minimal disability. Patients in this range do not have musculoskeletal impairments, but may have other symptomology that is prevalent. The range of 3.0 to < 6.0 is considered moderate disability. Gait impairment and ambulatory dysfunction occurs in this range, but no assistive device is necessary. The range of 6.0 to 9.5 is considered severe disability. In this range different disability scores are given largely based on the use of ambulatory devices for assistance including unilateral

assistance (6.0), bilateral assistance (6.5), or wheelchair (7.0) with scores >7.0 associated with bed rest.

## **1.2 Disability and Physical Activity in MS**

The accumulation of disability has profound effects on the daily lives of people with MS. Impaired CNS signaling has a direct impact on musculoskeletal function and results in lower activity levels in persons with MS. A cycle of deconditioning begins with the onset of MS leading to physical inactivity and subsequently physiological deconditioning.<sup>9</sup> A relationship exists between deconditioning and disability that accompanies disease progression.<sup>10</sup> Physical inactivity is not only an issue in clinical populations like MS. According to the CDC's 2014 report on physical activity in the U.S., only about 20% of Americans are achieving the 150 minute a week recommendation for moderate aerobic exercise and muscular strengthening guidelines. The implications have been clear as lower levels of physical activity are associated with higher rates of CVD, obesity, metabolic disease, and all-cause mortality. The case is similar in MS. Historically, persons with MS have been told to refrain from too much physical activity (PA) and to be easy on themselves physically. A meta-analysis on PA in MS found that persons with MS participate much less PA than healthy people. In the same study, the authors found persons with MS do not differ in PA levels compared to other clinical populations (chronic fatigue syndrome, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, cerebral palsy). As with increased risk of CVD and metabolically related disease in the healthy populations, persons with MS can have a similarly increased risk of developing these diseases which can impact their disease.<sup>11,12</sup> PA in MS is also related to type/course of MS. People with PPMS tend to have lower levels of PA when compared to those suffering from RRMS. People with PPMS tend to have more severe

symptoms, a higher disability level overall, less mobility, and are less likely to engage in PA. This can directly interfere with day to day function or participation in physical activity.<sup>13</sup> Even with the consistency of these findings, PA among persons with MS varies from person to person and can be affected by other lifestyle choices.

## **1.3 Physical Fitness**

Cardiorespiratory fitness reflects the body's ability for delivering, extracting, and using oxygen for prolonged endurance exercise and is typically measured as peak aerobic capacity (VO<sub>2peak</sub>), peak power output (W<sub>p</sub>), and anaerobic or lactate threshold (l/mmol). Muscular fitness reflects the body's ability for generating and maintaining muscular force via skeletal muscle contraction and is commonly measured as muscular strength (e.g., peak force) and endurance (e.g., maximum repetitions). Higher rates of fitness have been associated with improved all-cause mortality in non-diseased populations. Specifically, improved physical fitness has been shown to associate with lower rates of death from CVD and cancer.<sup>14</sup> This is a clear indicator that along with regular physical activity, good physical fitness is conducive to a healthy lifestyle and better longevity. When concerning MS, a disease that is associated with low PA, low fitness, and a more sedentary lifestyles physical fitness is often ignored as a component of health, not being seen as a potential factor for improving functionality in MS.

Physical fitness has two main components for the sake of this discussion: cardiorespiratory and muscular. Cardiorespiratory fitness (CRF) reflects the body's ability for delivering, extracting, and utilizing oxygen for endurance exercise and is typically measured as peak aerobic capacity (VO<sub>2peak</sub>), peak power output (W<sub>p</sub>), and anaerobic or lactate threshold (l/mmol).<sup>15</sup> CRF has individually been associated with better overall mortality rates, CVD, metabolic syndrome, diabetes, and cancer in healthy people.<sup>16,14,17,18</sup> Because of its strong relationship with improved health outcomes, CRF has become an integral component in a multidisciplinary approach to health in medicine. Augmentation of CRF is possible through exercise intervention involving aerobic exercise which can be conducted via many modalities such as running, biking, rowing, swimming, etc. Increases in VO<sub>2peak</sub> occur even with lower intensity aerobic exercise and continue to increase in a dose-dependent manner with increasing intensity and duration of aerobic exercise.<sup>19</sup> These changes also can result in better insulin sensitivity, decreases in fat mass, and markers of inflammation, and plasma triglycerides.<sup>20,21</sup> Clearly, aerobic exercise has become a well-established medical therapy for many issues especially in chronic disease prevention and treatment.

## 1.4 Physical Fitness in MS: Muscular Fitness

Muscular fitness (MF) reflects the body's ability for generating and maintaining muscular force via skeletal muscle contraction and is commonly measured as muscular strength (e.g., peak force) and endurance (e.g., maximum repetitions). MF has also been associated with better health outcomes, albeit not as robustly as CRF. MF has been found to be inversely related to all-cause mortality and cancer in men after adjusting for CRF.<sup>22,23</sup> MF has also been shown to be associated with better risk factor analyses for metabolic syndrome, osteoporosis, diabetes, and CVD in healthy people.<sup>24,25,26,27,28,29,30,31,32,33,34</sup>. This means the risk factors, or physiological measures that have been known to increase risk of one of these diseases are found less in persons with improved MF. These findings illustrate the importance of MF in both healthy, older, and clinical populations. Research on the effects of improved MF in these populations through different types of resistance exercise training. Resistance training is defined as the act of repeated voluntary muscle contractions against a resistance greater than those normally encountered in activities of daily living.<sup>35</sup> Through this form of training three main changes affecting

performance can be observed: hypertrophy, strength, and endurance. Hypertrophy refers to changes in morphology in musculature in which muscle fibers grow in diameter. Strength changes are commonly assessed as peak torque and reflect neuromuscular adaptations involving motor recruitment as well as hypertrophy. Endurance refers to the capacity to achieve multiple repetitions of a given weight and reflects the muscles ability to delay neural and intramuscular fatigue. These changes facilitate the aforementioned metabolic, functional, and clinically relevant benefits of MF. The case has been resoundingly made for the potential of resistance training to affect MF and be of possible benefit to health outcomes involving cardiovascular and musculoskeletal function in healthy and clinical populations alike.

## 1.5 Physical Fitness in MS: Cardiorespiratory Fitness

When compared to healthy controls, persons with MS have been found to have worse CRF. In one study, CRF, based on VO<sub>2peak</sub>, was 28% higher in a sample of 25 healthy controls compared to 25 participants with MS.<sup>36</sup> In another study, 32 persons with MS were found to have roughly 12% decreased relative VO<sub>2peak</sub> compared to 16 healthy controls. MF shares a similar case. For example, one study of 15 participants with MS and 15 healthy controls demonstrated that persons with MS had significantly lower peak torque production in the nondominant knee extensors, dominant knee flexors, and nondominant knee flexors compared to healthy controls.<sup>37</sup> Another study found persons with MS to have significantly worse isokinetic strength in the knee extensors during the eccentric and concentric phases of contraction when compared to healthy controls.<sup>38</sup> As previously described, a cycle of deconditioning is present in persons with MS and this is only further promoted as disease progression, relapse, increases in symptomology, or complications due to comorbidity occur. The physical inactivity that is spurred on by the onset of MS is an important factor in the physiological deconditioning seen in MS. Even the light

stimulus provided by daily PA on the cardiorespiratory and muscular systems can promote maintenance of current musculature and function. Persons with MS often encounter a spiral downward in their functionality. This is due to deconditioning from MS progression that leads to less likelihood of PA and eventually a loss of function. Fortunately, exercise physiologists have been examining the effects of exercise on persons with MS and current literature suggests a potential reversal of the downward spiral caused by inactivity and physiological deconditioning. After all, the body of a person with MS is still under the same principles of physiology regarding exercise and fitness.

## 1.6 Exercise Training and Physical Fitness in MS

Both exercise with the intent of improving CRF and MF has been studied in MS. A recent review of 54 studies of varying quality found the current evidence to suggest that exercise training is effective for improving both CRF and MF in persons with MS. Further, this review suggested exercise may be beneficial to mobility, fatigue, and health related quality of life. Twelve studies of varying quality suggested changes in aerobic capacity following exercise training. The authors concluded that a frequency of 2-3 bouts of exercise a week at 60% or more VO<sub>2peak</sub> will elicit adaptations in CRF. Further, peak power output was shown to improve following aerobic exercise in 6 studies as well. The effect of combined modality (aerobic and resistance training) has also been shown to positively affect peak power although there is less evidence regarding this.<sup>39</sup> There is also evidence for increases in MF following exercise training in MS. The same review examined evidence from 6 randomized controlled trials and found 8-20 weeks of supervised resistance training performed 2-3 times a week at moderate intensity increased MF. There are established benefits to improving CRF in both clinical and non-clinical populations alike. CRF in particular is important for maintaining cardiovascular health, body

composition, and physical function and in a population that can be impaired in these health qualities it is imperative to provide novel therapies to augment them. The benefits of improving MF in persons with MS are also well established. MF improvements have been associated with improved walking speed and endurance, gait outcomes, cognition, and fatigue in MS.<sup>40</sup> It can be concluded that, with regular exercise, fitness in persons with MS can be improved. These improvements in CRF and MF help to facilitate further secondary benefits in persons with MS that encompass each realm of disability that can be seen in MS. Through review and meta-analyses a quantifiable effect on CRF and MF can be expected suggesting exercise as a therapy in this clinical population is nothing to overlook when considering the benefits of improved fitness.

*Other Benefits of Exercise Training in MS* Exercise also have benefits to persons with MS that do not directly related to fitness improvements. But exercise among persons with MS is not common. A study that surveyed 2,995 veterans that had MS found only about 28% of them to self-report doing any regular exercise<sup>41</sup>. Even though few people with MS participate in regular exercise there are a number of studies that have looked at mental health, quality of life, mobility and gait, and components of health in MS following regular exercise. A number of randomized controlled trials have examined the effects of exercise on depressive symptoms in MS. Out of the 13 studies that did so 11 were found to have positive effects on depression symptoms. A meta-analyses of the effects of exercise on MS was conducted and quantified the effect of exercise on depression in these studies. The authors found an effect of 1/3 SD or ES = 0.36 suggesting a small magnitude change in depressive symptoms can be expected following regular exercise training for persons with MS.<sup>42</sup> This is supported by meta-analyses that demonstrate a favorable effect of exercise on depression in healthy and clinically depressed persons that do not have

MS.<sup>43,44,45,46</sup>. Depression or depressive symptoms are common in MS. An estimated 50% of patients with MS become depressed or develop depressive symptoms over the duration of their MS. Because of the complicated nature of MS disease pathology within the CNS and depression's neurological basis, treating depression in MS patients can be difficult due to drug interactions and disability affecting accessibility to therapists. These studies suggest exercise may be an alternative means to help with these depressive symptoms in MS.

The effect of exercise on quality of life has also been examined in persons with MS. Quality of life considers one's subjective interpretation of components of their life's that they deem important such as psychological, social, and physical well-being. Evidence suggests that persons with MS can have compromised quality of life.<sup>47</sup> This may be due to the nature of having a progressive disease of which there is not yet a cure available. A meta-analyses examined the available literature involving the effects of exercise on quality of life in persons with MS. Out of high quality studies 13 studies examined, 12 showed positive effects of exercise on quality of life in MS. Overall, the authors found an effect of approximately <sup>1</sup>/<sub>4</sub> SD or SE=0.23 suggesting a small magnitude change in quality of life can be expected following regular exercise training in persons with MS.<sup>48</sup> The conclusion that exercise can help provide a small effect to quality of life is important in a clinical population like MS. Again patients are shown to be more predisposed to depression and to have a negative outlook on their own lives which can be affected by having a progression disease such as MS. Exercise is a behavior that can added to one's lifestyle and has numerous established benefits. Along with those health benefits, the possibilities of improving one's outlook on life can have real impact of further behavior and positivity which can lead to better outcomes.<sup>49</sup>

Mobility and gait have also been shown to improve following exercise training in persons with MS. The progression of MS is synonymous with the development of gait impairments and further disruptions to mobility. These impairments culminate disability that often results in the need for ambulatory devices such as canes, walkers, and wheelchairs. The effect loosing mobility capability can be profound as it demotes incentives to move decreasing PA. Nearly half of those diagnosed with MS with be in need of an ambulatory device within 15 to 25 years of diagnoses. Further 9 out of every 10 persons with MS with have severe disability leaving them with even larger mobility limitations. Since mobility is largely used as an identifier of disease progression it is a target for treatment either indirectly through disease-modifying medications or directly through exercise intervention. In another meta-analyses the effect of exercise interventions on mobility outcomes in MS was quantified. 22 high-quality studies were included in the analysis. All but 3 of the included studies showed a beneficial effect of exercise on walking mobility. The overall effect size indicated that walking mobility improved 1/5 SD in persons with MS following exercise training. The overall effect size (ES) was g=0.19. The effect was more pronounced when controlling for supervision of exercise training with an ES of g=0.32 suggesting more improvements can be seen regarding walking mobility when people are supervised throughout their exercise regimen. It is clear that exercise training has effects on the musculoskeletal system of clinical and non-clinical populations alike. Both aerobic and resistance training can elicits these benefits in the musculoskeletal system leading to improved mobility, gait, and function. These improvements in turn can spur motivation to be more improving PA which would in turn help maintain these functions.

## **1.7 Cardiovascular Function in MS**

CV function involves circulatory and autonomic function related to the heart, as well their responsiveness to stimulus or return to homeostasis. This is also affected by morphological components of arteries such as arterial stiffness, compliance of the blood vessel, and heart function. Importantly, such cardiovascular dysfunction can contribute to risk of developing vascular comorbidities and CVD in MS, which are associated with MS disease progression.<sup>10</sup>

Arterial function has been shown to be compromised in persons with MS. Arterial function describes measures such as blood flow, arterial stiffness, arterial wave reflection, and morphological changes like intima media thickness. The collection of these measures provides a multifactorial view of arterial function and are considered subclinical indicators of atherosclerosis and a compromised cardiovascular system. One cross sectional study compared arterial function in 33 MS patients to 33 healthy controls. The authors found arterial function to be significantly different in persons with MS compared to healthy controls. Particularly, peak forearm blood flow, pulse wave velocity (a measure of arterial stiffness), and arterial compliance were all significantly lower in the MS group. The authors also measured markers of inflammation since persons with MS can have chronically elevated levels of these markers and they can be responsible for cardiovascular challenge and further dysfunction. Inflammatory markers were not found to be elevated in the MS group compared to the healthy controls; therefore, arterial dysfunction is occurring in absence of chronically elevated inflammation.<sup>50</sup> This supports the notion that MS is also a vascular disease due to its effects on endothelial function.

Additionally, person with MS are known to develop compromised autonomic nervous systems leading to symptoms involving cardiovascular function, bowel and bladder function, sexual dysfunction, fatigue, sleep and others. In the cardiovascular system, autonomic disruption

stemming from demyelination of the CNS in MS results in issues related to heart rate variability and blood pressure variability. Previous studies have found a raised sympathetic tone in persons with MS.<sup>51</sup> Further, persons with MS have decreased heart rate variability and decreased blood pressure response. These issues can be a consequence of the development of brain lesions that are occur during MS disease progression.<sup>52</sup> In one study examining autonomic function in MS, researchers recorded heart rate variability in deep breathing examinations and heart rate and blood pressure responses in a tilt table test. Cardiovascular response was found to correlate with MS disease disability and number of brain lesions.<sup>52</sup> This is supported by the progression of autonomic cardiovascular dysfunction in MS following a one year follow up.<sup>53</sup> The effects of disease progression on autonomic function and its subsequent cardiovascular dysfunction help to further develop the cardiovascular profile of MS patients and provide avenues for potential intervention. Since autonomic nervous system issues are commonplace in MS the effects of lesion load on autonomic nervous system functions, especially cardiovascular responses, remains a topic for research and potential intervention.

*Vascular Comorbidities in MS* Vascular comorbidity can include hypercholesterolemia, hypertension, heart disease, diabetes, and peripheral vascular disease. Many people have multiple vascular comorbidities in addition to MS, further exacerbating their risk profile. A review found even one vascular comorbidity can increase the rate of progression in MS disability if it is present at the onset of MS. Those with one vascular comorbidity at onset were ultimately found to have a 50% increased risk of ambulatory disability throughout the course of their MS. The same review found a dose-response relationship between the number of vascular comorbidities and the speed of disability progression in persons with MS. Persons with MS suffering from two vascular comorbidities are at 228% risk of developing gait disability.<sup>10</sup> With

this information in mind, treating comorbid conditions in persons with MS has the potential to diminish disability progression, particularly ambulatory function.

Persons with MS have been found to have a greater risk of CVD. In one example, a large cohort study involving 8000 participants, researchers examined the risk of myocardial infarction, heart failure, stroke, and atrial fibrillation or flutter in patients diagnosed with MS.<sup>54</sup> The authors found a significantly greater risk for CVD in persons with MS. Specifically, relative risk of myocardial infarction, stroke, and heart failure were 1.85, 1.71, and 1.97 times more likely in persons with MS. The authors proposed several factors contributing to this including immune dysfunction and elevated inflammation but also included suggestions that homocysteine, decreased arterial function, oxidative stress, cerebral hypoperfusion, and even therapeutic use of glucocorticoids all can affect the risk for development of CVD. The end result of these factors and the development of CVD can expectedly increase the mortality of those with MS. Therefore, addressing the components of cardiovascular health is imperative for helping persons with MS maintain function and improve mortality.

The aforementioned evidence paints a stark picture of the cardiovascular profile of person with MS. As disease progression occurs and further disability accumulates a decrease in PA can also be expected without direct intervention. A compromised cardiovascular system coupled with the effects of deconditioning are important consideration for clinicians responsible for treating MS. Neglecting cardiovascular health has obvious detrimental effects on health in non-clinical populations who have no disability issues let alone MS. MS patients and their clinicians should be fully aware of the challenges presented in cardiovascular health that can accompany MS. Interventions for increasing cardiovascular health are also of interest in MS. Aerobic exercise has extensive support as an intervention for maintaining and improving all components of one's

cardiovascular profile. The results of aerobic exercise on MS have been previously mentioned here but again provide a means to counteract the negative cardiovascular issues that can arise in MS.

#### **1.8 Purpose and Rationale**

Physiological fitness and cardiovascular health are two components that have potential to be augmented by exercise and benefit persons with MS. Exercise training is a potential intervention to augment both of these components in persons with MS (since it has a large body of evidence to support its effects on physiological fitness and cardiovascular function in healthy people). It is important to determine whether or not exercise training can be associated with improvement in physiological fitness which includes cardiorespiratory and muscular fitness in persons with MS. Current evidence from higher quality studies, randomized controlled trials, of exercise training effects on physiological fitness in MS are promising but suffer from being examined in individually resulting in conclusions drawn from smaller sample sizes and possibly failing to determine effects of exercise interventions. When examining these studies, a systematic quantification of the effects of exercise on fitness is necessary to determine an overall effect of exercise training interventions on physiological fitness. For this reason, a meta-analysis was used to quantify the effect of exercise interventions on cardiorespiratory and muscular fitness outcomes in persons with MS. The result of this analyses will provide an indication of the magnitude of effect one could expect from implementing an exercise training program in this population. The hypothesis considered was that exercise training would be associated with improvements in muscular and cardiorespiratory fitness outcomes and these improvements would be moderate in magnitude.

The relationships between MS, physiological fitness, and CV function are in need of further evidence. Although evidence suggests an impaired cardiovascular profile among persons with MS, more studies are needed to corroborate these deficits in MS. However, cardiovascular improvements have yet to be studied in this population. Since cardiovascular function is strongly related to CRF and is also associated with muscular fitness to a lesser degree in healthy populations it is important to examine the relationship between physiological fitness and cardiovascular function in MS. For this reason a cross-sectional study was used to examine these relationships among in patients with MS. It was hypothesized that physiological fitness will be associated with all components of cardiovascular function and arterial function. This study will provide insight into the relationship between fitness and cardiovascular function in MS helping identify better targets for therapy to promote better cardiovascular health and a better disease risk profile in persons with MS.

The purpose of this thesis is to provide evidence about the relationships between MS, physiological fitness, and CV function. To examine this, (1) a meta-analysis will be conducted to systematically quantify current research literature that used exercise as an intervention in MS. This will provide information regarding the magnitude of effect that can be expected if a person with MS engages in regular exercise training. Both CRF and MF will be examined to determine the effect of exercise on them individually. To examine the relationship between physiological fitness and CV function in persons with MS (2) a cross-sectional analysis will be conducted using validated measures of CV function and gold standard measures of fitness. The overall benefit of these studies will be to provide evidence for clinicians to make educated, evidence-based recommendations when developing exercise programs for persons with MS that concern fitness and CV function.

## **1.9 References**

- Noonan, C. W., Kathman, S. J. & White, M. C. Prevalence estimates for MS in the United States and evidence of an increasing trend for women. *Neurology* 58, 136–138 (2002).
- Harbo, H. F., Gold, R. & Tintoré, M. Sex and gender issues in multiple sclerosis. *Ther Adv Neurol Disord* 6, 237–248 (2013).
- Ramagopalan, S. V. & Sadovnick, A. D. Epidemiology of multiple sclerosis. *Neurologic Clinics* 29, 207–217 (2011).
- Langer-Gould, A., Brara, S. M., Beaber, B. E. & Zhang, J. L. Incidence of multiple sclerosis in multiple racial and ethnic groups. *Neurology* 80, 1734–1739 (2013).
- Frohman, E. M., Racke, M. K. & Raine, C. S. Multiple sclerosis--the plaque and its pathogenesis. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 354, 942–955 (2006).
- Lublin, F. D., Reingold, S. C. & Sclerosis\*, N. M. S. S. (USA) A. C. on C. T. of N. A. in M. Defining the clinical course of multiple sclerosis. Results of an international survey. *Neurology* 46, 907–911 (1996).
- 7. Thrower, B. W. Relapse management in multiple sclerosis. *Neurologist* 15, 1–5 (2009).
- 8. Beck, R. W. *et al.* A randomized, controlled trial of corticosteroids in the treatment of acute optic neuritis. *New England Journal of Medicine* 326, 581–588 (1992).
- 9. W Motl, R. The importance of physical fitness in multiple Sclerosis. *Journal of Novel Physiotherapies* 03, (2013).
- 10. Marrie, R. A. *et al.* Vascular comorbidity is associated with more rapid disability progression in multiple sclerosis. *Neurology* 74, 1041–1047 (2010).

- Dishman, R., Heath, G. & Lee, I.-M. *Physical Activity Epidemiology-2nd Edition*. (Human Kinetics).
- 12. Slawta, J. N. *et al.* Coronary heart disease risk between active and inactive women with multiple sclerosis. *Med Sci Sports Exerc* 34, 905–912 (2002).
- Motl, R. W., McAuley, E. & Snook, E. M. Physical activity and multiple sclerosis: a metaanalysis. *Mult Scler* 11, 459–463 (2005).
- 14. Blair, S. N. *et al.* Physical fitness and all-cause mortality. A prospective study of healthy men and women. *JAMA* 262, 2395–2401 (1989).
- Motl, R. W. & Gosney, J. L. Effect of exercise training on quality of life in multiple sclerosis: a meta-analysis. *Mult. Scler.* 14, 129–135 (2008).
- LaMonte, M. J. *et al.* Cardiorespiratory fitness is inversely associated with the incidence of metabolic syndrome a prospective study of men and women. *Circulation* 112, 505–512 (2005).
- Wei, M., Gibbons, L. W., Kampert, J. B., Nichaman, M. Z. & Blair, S. N. Low cardiorespiratory fitness and physical inactivity as predictors of mortality in men with type 2 diabetes. *Ann Intern Med* 132, 605–611 (2000).
- Sawada, S. S. *et al.* Cardiorespiratory fitness and cancer mortality in Japanese men: A prospective study: *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise* 35, 1546–1550 (2003).
- 19. Wenger, D. H. A. & Bell, G. J. The interactions of intensity, frequency and duration of exercise training in altering cardiorespiratory fitness. *Sports Medicine* 3, 346–356 (2012).
- 20. Short, K. R. *et al.* Impact of aerobic exercise training on age-related changes in insulin sensitivity and muscle oxidative capacity. *Diabetes* 52, 1888–1896 (2003).

- Ford, E. S. Does exercise reduce inflammation? Physical activity and C-reactive protein among U.S. adults. *Epidemiology* 13, 561–568 (2002).
- 22. Ruiz, J. R. *et al.* Association between muscular strength and mortality in men: prospective cohort study. *BMJ* 337, a439 (2008).
- FitzGerald, S. *et al.* Muscular fitness and all-cause mortality: prospective observations. *Journal of Physical Activity and Health* 1, 7–18 (2004).
- Jurca, R. *et al.* Association of muscular strength with incidence of metabolic syndrome in men. *Med Sci Sports Exerc* 37, 1849–1855 (2005).
- 25. Menkes, A. *et al.* Strength training increases regional bone mineral density and bone remodeling in middle-aged and older men. *J. Appl. Physiol.* 74, 2478–2484 (1993).
- Ryan, A. S. *et al.* Effects of strength training on bone mineral density: hormonal and bone turnover relationships. *J. Appl. Physiol.* 77, 1678–1684 (1994).
- Hare, D. L. *et al.* Resistance exercise training increases muscle strength, endurance, and blood flow in patients with chronic heart failure. *The American Journal of Cardiology* 83, 1674–1677 (1999).
- 28. Martel, G. F. *et al.* Strength training normalizes resting blood pressure in 65- to 73-year-old men and women with high normal blood pressure. *J Am Geriatr Soc* 47, 1215–1221 (1999).
- 29. Hurley, B. F. *et al.* Resistive training can reduce coronary risk factors without altering VO2max or percent body fat. *Med Sci Sports Exerc* 20, 150–154 (1988).
- Parker, N. D. *et al.* Effects of strength training on cardiovascular responses during a submaximal walk and a weight-loaded walking test in older females. *J Cardiopulm Rehabil* 16, 56–62 (1996).

- Miller, J. P. *et al.* Strength training increases insulin action in healthy 50- to 65-yr-old men.
  *J. Appl. Physiol.* 77, 1122–1127 (1994).
- 32. Treuth, M. S. *et al.* Effects of strength training on total and regional body composition in older men. *J. Appl. Physiol.* 77, 614–620 (1994).
- Treuth, M. S. *et al.* Reduction in intra-abdominal adipose tissue after strength training in older women. *J. Appl. Physiol.* 78, 1425–1431 (1995).
- 34. Nicklas, B. J. *et al.* Testosterone, growth hormone and IGF-I responses to acute and chronic resistive exercise in men aged 55-70 years. *Int J Sports Med* 16, 445–450 (1995).
- Lee, M. & Carroll, T. J. Cross education: possible mechanisms for the contralateral effects of unilateral resistance training. *Sports Med* 37, 1–14 (2007).
- 36. Mostert, S. & Kesselring, J. Effects of a short-term exercise training program on aerobic fitness, fatigue, health perception and activity level of subjects with multiple sclerosis. *Mult. Scler.* 8, 161–168 (2002).
- 37. Lambert, C. P., Archer, R. L. & Evans, W. J. Muscle strength and fatigue during isokinetic exercise in individuals with multiple sclerosis. *Med Sci Sports Exerc* 33, 1613–1619 (2001).
- 38. Carroll, C. C., Gallagher, P. M., Seidle, M. E. & Trappe, S. W. Skeletal muscle characteristics of people with multiple sclerosis. *Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation* 86, 224–229 (2005).
- 39. Latimer-Cheung, A. E. *et al.* Effects of exercise training on fitness, mobility, fatigue, and health-related quality of life among adults with multiple sclerosis: a systematic review to inform guideline development. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil* 94, 1800–1828.e3 (2013).
- 40. Sandroff, B. M., Sosnoff, J. J. & Motl, R. W. Physical fitness, walking performance, and gait in multiple sclerosis. *J. Neurol. Sci.* 328, 70–76 (2013).

- 41. Turner, A. P., Kivlahan, D. R. & Haselkorn, J. K. Exercise and quality of life among people with multiple sclerosis: looking beyond physical functioning to mental health and participation in life. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil* 90, 420–428 (2009).
- Ensari, I., Motl, R. W. & Pilutti, L. A. Exercise training improves depressive symptoms in people with multiple sclerosis: results of a meta-analysis. *J Psychosom Res* 76, 465–471 (2014).
- Conn, V. S. Depressive symptom outcomes of physical activity interventions: meta-analysis findings. *ann. behav. med.* 39, 128–138 (2010).
- 44. Silveira, H. *et al.* Physical exercise and clinically depressed patients: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Neuropsychobiology* 67, 61–68 (2013).
- 45. Lawlor, D. A. & Hopker, S. W. The effectiveness of exercise as an intervention in the management of depression: systematic review and meta-regression analysis of randomised controlled trials. *BMJ* 322, 763 (2001).
- 46. Rethorst, D. C. D., Wipfli, B. M. & Landers, D. M. The antidepressive effects of exercise. *Sports Med* 39, 491–511 (2012).
- Benito-León, J., Morales, J. M., Rivera-Navarro, J. & Mitchell, A. A review about the impact of multiple sclerosis on health-related quality of life. *Disabil Rehabil* 25, 1291–1303 (2003).
- Motl, R. W. & Gosney, J. L. Effect of exercise training on quality of life in multiple sclerosis: a meta-analysis. *Mult Scler* 14, 129–135 (2008).
- 49. Cohen, S. & Pressman, S. D. Positive affect and health. *Current Directions in Psychological Science* 15, 122–125 (2006).

- 50. Ranadive, S. M. *et al.* Vascular dysfunction and physical activity in multiple sclerosis. *Med Sci Sports Exerc* 44, 238–243 (2012).
- Monge-Argilés, J. A., Palacios-Ortega, F., Vila-Sobrino, J. A. & Matias-Guiu, J. Heart rate variability in multiple sclerosis during a stable phase. *Acta Neurologica Scandinavica* 97, 86–92 (1998).
- Saari, A. *et al.* Cardiovascular autonomic dysfunction correlates with brain MRI lesion load in MS. *Clin Neurophysiol* 115, 1473–1478 (2004).
- Nasseri, K., TenVoorde, B. J., Adèr, H. J., Uitdehaag, B. M. & Polman, C. H. Longitudinal follow-up of cardiovascular reflex tests in multiple sclerosis. *J. Neurol. Sci.* 155, 50–54 (1998).
- 54. Jadidi, E., Mohammadi, M. & Moradi, T. High risk of cardiovascular diseases after diagnosis of multiple sclerosis. *Mult Scler* 19, 1336–1340 (2013).

#### Chapter 2

# The effect of exercise training on fitness in multiple sclerosis: A meta-analysis

Matthew Platta, Ipek Ensari, Robert W Motl, Lara A Pilutti

## **2.1 Introduction**

Multiple sclerosis (MS) is a neurological disease characterized by inflammatory attacks within the central nervous system that result in axonal demyelination and transection as well as neurodegeneration.<sup>1</sup> The pathophysiological processes associated with the disease result in impairments in various domains including walking, cognition, and symptomatic changes such as depression and fatigue. The consequences of MS further compromise participation in physical activity and this results in significant detraining (i.e., physiological deconditioning), particularly in the domains of muscular and cardiorespiratory fitness.<sup>2</sup> Muscular fitness reflects the body's ability for generating and maintaining muscular force via skeletal muscle contraction and is commonly measured as muscular strength (e.g., peak force) and endurance (e.g., maximum repetitions). Cardiorespiratory fitness reflects the body's ability for delivering, extracting, and using oxygen for prolonged endurance exercise and is typically measured as peak aerobic capacity (VO<sub>2peak</sub>), peak power output (W<sub>p</sub>), and anaerobic or lactate threshold (l/mmol). The maintenance of muscular and cardiorespiratory fitness is critical for preserving and restoring physical functioning and participation among persons with MS.<sup>3</sup>

There is evidence that both muscular and cardiorespiratory fitness are impaired in persons with MS. For example, one study of 15 participants with MS and 15 healthy controls demonstrated that persons with MS had significantly lower peak torque production in the nondominant knee extensors, dominant knee flexors, and nondominant knee flexors compared to

healthy controls.<sup>4</sup> This has been replicated in other studies.<sup>5,6</sup> Similarly, cardiorespiratory fitness, based on  $VO_{2peak}$ , was 28% higher in a sample of 25 healthy controls compared to 25 participants with MS, and such deficits have been replicated in other studies.<sup>5,7,8</sup> The detraining and loss of fitness in persons with MS combined with the importance of physiological fitness for functional and symptomatic outcomes underscores the importance of developing and evaluating the efficacy of interventions that target indices of muscular and cardiorespiratory fitness.

Exercise training probably reflects the intervention modality with the best likelihood and relevance for improving physiological fitness in persons with MS. There is evidence for the benefits of resistance and aerobic training for improving physiological fitness in persons with MS.<sup>9-11</sup> For example, one systematic review reported that 8-20 weeks of moderate intensity (i.e., 10-12 repetitions @ 70-80% 1RM) resistance training performed 2 to 3 times per week increased muscular strength in persons with MS; there were insufficient data for demonstrating a change in muscular endurance.<sup>12</sup> That review further reported that moderate intensity (i.e., 60-80% W<sub>p</sub> or 60% VO<sub>2peak</sub>) aerobic exercise training, 2 to 3 times a week for 30 to 60 minutes increased cardiorespiratory fitness (VO<sub>2peak</sub>) in persons with MS.<sup>12</sup>

Those data are promising, but have important limitations that can be overcome in a metaanalysis. The studies often suffer from small sample sizes resulting in non-significant effects resulting in the possible interpretation of no consistent or definitive effect of exercise training on fitness. The studies and literature review do not provide an indication of the magnitude of improvement in fitness outcomes following exercise training that can be provided through metaanalysis. Such an indication of magnitude is important for clinical research and practice by providing an evidence-based estimate of the actual benefit that exercise training may confer on physiological fitness. It is further note that there is likely variability in the effect of exercise training on fitness adaptations, and this can be quantified using moderator analysis in metaanalysis. This will be important for indicating the characteristics of exercise or the sample that maximize the improvement in fitness outcomes. There are further examples of the value of metaanalysis for providing additional insight into the effect of exercise training on outcomes in MS that were not possible in literature reviews.<sup>13,14</sup>

We undertook a meta-analysis for providing a quantitative assessment of the effect of exercise training on muscular and cardiorespiratory fitness outcomes in persons with MS. To do this, we conducted a systematic and comprehensive meta-analysis of published randomized controlled trials (RCTs) involving exercise training and MS that included outcomes of muscular and cardiorespiratory fitness. We hypothesized exercise training to be associated with improvements in muscular and cardiorespiratory fitness outcomes and these improvements would be moderate in magnitude as fitness is a more proximal outcome of exercise training than other outcomes (e.g., walking and quality of life) included in meta-analyses of exercise training in MS.<sup>14-17</sup>

## 2.2 Methods

This meta-analysis was conducted consistent with the Meta-analysis of Observational Studies in Epidemiology (MOOSE) framework, and a visual description of these step-by-step methods is provided in Figure 1.<sup>18</sup> We conducted a search of the following electronic databases: PubMed, Web of Science and Google Scholar, using the keywords "exercise" OR "aerobic" OR "strength" OR "resistance training" OR "cardiorespiratory" AND "multiple sclerosis". We included RCTs that were published up to October 2014. We initially retrieved 1501 articles of which 1439 were excluded for the following reasons: duplicates, review articles and no inclusion of persons with MS. We further searched the bibliographies of the retrieved articles and reviewed a total of 62 articles in detail. Of these articles, there were 42 without an objective fitness outcome measure, exercise training manipulation, appropriate control group, or randomization, and these studies were excluded. If the papers did not include sufficient information for calculating effect sizes (ES), we contacted the authors for further information. We included RCTs (i.e., studies that compared exercise training vs. no-treatment control and stated assigning participants to conditions randomly) that administered measures of physical fitness (e.g., VO<sub>2peak</sub>, isokinetic strength) pre-post intervention. We excluded RCTs that did not include persons with MS, an appropriate objective fitness outcome, or an appropriate exercise training intervention. This resulted in a total of 20 RCTs that were included in the meta-analysis.<sup>7,9,11,19-36</sup>

We computed Ess expressed as Cohen's d.<sup>37</sup> To do this, we computed the mean change from before to after exercise training and subtracted the mean change of the control condition. The resulting difference in mean change between the conditions was then divided by the baseline standard deviation (SD) pooled between conditions. The Ess were calculated so that a positive ES indicated an improvement in fitness levels after exercise training, whereas a negative ES indicated a worsening of fitness levels in the exercise condition compared with control. Separate Ess were calculated per dependent variable (i.e., some studies had multiple fitness outcomes) as well as per type of exercise (i.e., some studies had more than one type of exercise training modality or condition). The overall analysis took place using a single ES per study (i.e., an average ES when there was more than one ES computed by the software). This was necessary as multiple Ess from the same study are not independent.<sup>38</sup> The lack of independence can bias the

standard error (SE) for judging the significance of the overall ES and multiple Ess from one study bias the overall ES disproportionately compared with the studies that have a single ES.<sup>38</sup>

The Ess along with the associated standard errors (Ses) were entered into the Comprehensive Meta-analysis Software (Version 2.0, Biostat, Englewood, New Jersey). The analyses were conducted separately for the muscular and cardiorespiratory fitness outcomes. We used a random-effects model for computing the overall or mean ES (for each fitness outcome) as this model assumes that the samples come from populations with different Ess and that the true effect differs between studies.<sup>38</sup> We further computed a 95% confidence interval (CI) around the mean ES. An overall Q value and I<sup>2</sup> value were calculated to test for homogeneity of variance among Ess. The Q value is a measure of variance among the Ess and a statistically significant (p < .05) sum of the squares of each ES about the weighted mean (Q) indicates heterogeneity. The I<sup>2</sup> value represents the magnitude of the heterogeneity where a larger number indicates larger heterogeneity.

We further performed separate post-hoc, exploratory moderator analyses using a randomeffects model to partition any possible homogeneity within the 2 overall Ess for muscular and cardiorespiratory outcomes. Under the random-effects model, it is assumed that the ES heterogeneity is due to unobserved, random sources and is recommended as the preferred strategy due to the generality of this model.<sup>39</sup> We sought to apply this model as it is a more robust approach and to avoid potentially underestimating the variation between studies. The moderator analyses for muscular outcomes were based on the categorical variables of type of outcome measure (muscular strength vs. endurance), type of measurement device (isokinetic vs. other), training progression (progression over time vs. no progression), sample size (40 or fewer vs. more than 40 participants) and supervision (supervised training vs. partially or unsupervised

training). The moderator analyses for cardiorespiratory outcomes were based on the categorical variables of type of cardiorespiratory outcome measure (VO<sub>2peak</sub> vs. W<sub>p</sub> vs. other), type of exercise training (aerobic vs. other), exercise modality (cycle ergometer vs. other), exercise intensity (moderate vs. high based on the American College of Sport Medicine Guidelines for Exercise Testing and Prescription), sample size (fewer than 25 vs. 25 or more participants), and supervision (supervised training vs. partially or unsupervised training).<sup>40</sup> The selected moderators were categorized, in part, based on the number of studies available within each category (at least 3 studies per category) and upon initial reactions regarding possible effect moderators. Each study was used as the unit of analysis (averaging the Ess within each study in the case of multiple subgroups per study) when conducting the moderator analyses, except where noted (See Tables 2 and 3). The Ess per subgroup were coded separately (i.e., without averaging all subgroup Ess per study) in two cases to allow for comparisons of the categories within the moderator variable. This occurred with respect to the moderator variables type of muscular outcome measure in studies by Medina-Perez et al and Broekmann et al and, and the moderator variable of supervision in the study by Cakit et al.<sup>21,26,27</sup>

The quality of the studies included in the meta-analysis was established using the 11-item Physiotherapy Evidence Database (PEDro) scale for RCTs.<sup>41,42</sup> This scale has previously been used in reviews of exercise training in MS.<sup>12,43</sup> As recommended by the PEDro scoring guidelines, item 1 was not included when computing the overall score; therefore, total scores on the PEDro ranged between 0 and 10.<sup>41</sup> Higher scores on the PEDro indicate better methodological quality.

## 2.3 Results

Table 1 provides the sample and exercise characteristics per study, along with the PEDro scores. Overall, 62 Ess were retrieved from the 20 published RCTs that included a total of 722 persons with MS. Figures 2 and 3 provide visual descriptions of the average ES per study for muscular and cardiorespiratory fitness outcomes, respectively.

The distribution of Ess for muscular outcomes had slight positive skewness (g1=1.05, SE=.60) and kurtosis (g2=.88, SE=1.15). Eleven of the 14 Ess from the studies were greater than zero (i.e., 79%). The funnel plot of the average Ess from the 14 studies suggested against publication bias. The overall weighted mean ES was 0.27 (SE=0.05, 95% CI=0.17-0.38, z=5.05, p<.001). This reflects a statistically significant and small effect in favor of exercise training for improving muscular fitness compared with the control condition. The weighted mean ES was not heterogeneous (Q=11.09, df=13, p=.60, I<sup>2</sup>=0.00). This indicates that the variation among studies was not greater than expected due to random chance.

The distribution of Ess for cardiorespiratory fitness had slight negative skewness (g1=-1.46, SE=.69) and significant positive kurtosis (g2=3.023, SE=1.33). Nine of the 10 Ess from the studies were greater than zero (i.e., 90%). The funnel plot of the average Ess from the 10 studies suggested against publication bias. The overall weighted mean ES was 0.47 (SE=0.09, 95% CI=0.30-0.65, z=5.40, p<.001). This reflects a statistically significant and moderate effect in favor of exercise training for improving cardiorespiratory fitness compared with the control condition. The weighted mean ES was not heterogeneous (Q=7.83, df=9, p=0.55, I<sup>2</sup>=0.00). This indicates that the variation among studies was not greater than expected due to random chance.

## **Moderator analyses**

The lack of heterogeneity in the overall analyses indicated minimal variation in Ess across the RCTs, yet we still conducted exploratory, post-hoc analyses using categorical moderator variables for possibly informing future research. Point estimates, Ses and significance values for the  $Q_b$  statistic are provided in Tables 2 and 3 for muscular and cardiorespiratory fitness outcomes, respectively. For muscular fitness outcomes, the additional analyses identified the type of muscular outcome measure as a possible moderator variable (p=.05) (see Table 2), indicating an effect in favor of muscular compared to cardiorespiratory outcomes. In the cardiorespiratory fitness analysis, the moderator variable of supervision approached statistical significance (p=0.06). The presence of exercise supervision was associated with greater improvements in cardiorespiratory fitness outcomes than conditions that had no or minimal supervision. However, the results of this moderator analyses should be interpreted with caution due to the uneven and small number of Ess per category.

### **Clinical meaningfulness**

We estimated the possible clinical meaningfulness of the overall Ess by determining the degree of improvement in fitness outcomes using mean scores and SDs from a recent publication of persons with MS.<sup>44</sup> We first estimated the amount of change in fitness outcomes by multiplying the overall Ess with the SDs for VO<sub>2peak</sub>, (SD = 7.25) and peak knee extensor and flexor torque (Nm, SDs = 52.41 and 24.75, respectively). This indicated that aerobic exercise training resulted in an increase in VO<sub>2peak</sub> of 3.41 ml/kg/min, whereas resistance exercise resulted in an increase of peak extensor and flexor torque of 14.15 and 6.69 Nms, respectively. We then determined the percent change in fitness outcomes by dividing the amount of change in fitness

outcomes by the respective mean values for  $VO_{2peak}$  (M = 19.26) and peak knee extensor and flexor torque (M = 149.15 and 57.50, respectively). This resulted in a 17.7% change in  $VO_{2peak}$  as a consequence of exercise training, and a 9.5% change in extensor strength and 11.6% change in knee flexor strength as a result of exercise training. The calculated percent change for cardiorespiratory fitness clearly exceeded the threshold value of a 10% change in  $VO_{2peak}$  that has been deemed clinically relevant.<sup>45</sup>

#### 2.4 Discussion

We conducted a meta-analysis quantifying the effect of exercise training on muscular and cardiorespiratory fitness outcomes in RCTs of persons with MS. Overall, exercise training improved muscular fitness by 0.27 standard deviations, whereas it improved cardiorespiratory fitness by 0.47 standard deviations. The mean effect for muscular strength translated into increases of 14.15 and 6.69 Nm for knee extensor and flexor peak torque, respectively, or approximately a 10% improvement in strength. The mean effect for cardiorespiratory fitness translated into an improvement of 3.41 ml/kg/min or 18% in VO<sub>2peak</sub>. These findings extend previous data from systematic reviews on the benefits of exercise training in persons with MS by providing estimates of the magnitude of improvement in muscular and cardiorespiratory fitness outcomes following exercise training.<sup>12</sup> Such data are important for informing future research and clinical practice by providing an estimate of the actual benefit of exercise training on physical fitness in persons with MS. The Ess, for example, can inform power analyses for designing future RCTs, and provide clinicians with an evidence-based estimate of the expected improvement in fitness with exercise training in MS patients.
# **Muscular Fitness**

Muscular fitness is critical in MS for maintaining functional mobility and independence, and persons with MS demonstrate relative muscle weakness compared with controls and across the range of disability status.<sup>5,6</sup> This supports interest in quantifying the effect of exercise training on muscular fitness outcomes in MS. Overall, the effect of exercise training on muscular fitness was statistically significant, but small in magnitude. Eleven of the fourteen studies (i.e., 78%) had Ess that were greater than zero, suggesting a generally positive effect of exercise training on muscular fitness. We examined the clinical meaningfulness of the effect of exercise training on muscular fitness by determining the percent change using previously published data in MS. The Ess translated into changes for muscular fitness outcomes involving the knee extensors and flexors of 9.5% and 11.6%, respectively. Such changes might reflect clinically meaningful improvements that translate into secondary benefits for persons with MS. Indeed, muscular fitness has been associated with walking speed and endurance, gait outcomes, cognitive processing speed, and fatigue in persons with MS.<sup>44</sup> Further, exercise-training interventions that improve muscular fitness in those with MS have also resulted in improved mobility, quality of life, and fatigue.<sup>46</sup> We identified type of outcome measure as a significant moderator of the effect of exercise training on muscular fitness outcomes, where muscular strength outcomes yielded a larger effect than muscular endurance outcomes. Overall, exercise training is beneficial for improving muscular fitness in persons with MS, and researchers and clinicians can expect an average change of approximately  $\frac{1}{3}$  SD.

### **Cardiorespiratory Fitness**

Cardiorespiratory fitness is important for maintaining physical function, body composition, and cardiovascular health and it has been reported that persons with MS have lower

levels of cardiorespiratory fitness compared to healthy, age-matched controls.<sup>5,8</sup> This supports interest in quantifying the effect of exercise training on cardiorespiratory fitness in MS. The overall effect of exercise training on cardiorespiratory fitness was statistically significant and moderate in magnitude. Importantly, nine of the ten studies (i.e., 90%) had Ess that were greater than zero suggesting a consistent, positive effect of exercise training on cardiorespiratory fitness in MS. The average percent change for cardiorespiratory fitness was 17.7%, and this achieves a clinically meaningful change according to previously established criteria that suggest an increase of 10% in VO<sub>2peak</sub> or more to be meaningful.<sup>45</sup> There are important potential secondary benefits of improving cardiorespiratory capacity for persons with MS. Cardiorespiratory fitness has been associated with cortical plasticity, grey and white matter integrity, walking performance, cognition, and fatigue in MS samples.<sup>5,44,47-49</sup> Improvements in cardiorespiratory fitness might further reduce the risk of cardiovascular comorbidities, as higher levels of subclinical atherosclerosis have been reported in persons with MS.<sup>50</sup> There were no statistically significant moderators of the effect of exercise training on cardiorespiratory fitness; however, the presence of exercise supervision approached statistical significance (p=0.06) as a moderator variable. This might reflect the high number of studies that involved supervised exercise training (i.e., 80%) and included cardiorespiratory fitness outcomes. Exercise training interventions that are supervised likely enhance adherence with the exercise prescription, and this would increase the likelihood for positive training adaptations. Overall, we determined that exercise training is beneficial for improving cardiorespiratory fitness in persons with MS, and researchers and clinicians can expect an average change of approximately <sup>1</sup>/<sub>2</sub> SD or 18% following exercise training.

# Muscular vs. Cardiorespiratory Fitness Effect

The effect of exercise training on muscular fitness was approximately 0.20 SD units smaller than the effect on cardiorespiratory fitness and there was no overlap of point-estimates and 95% Cis for Ess. Such results suggest a considerably stronger effect of exercise training on cardiorespiratory fitness than muscular outcomes. Importantly, this information is novel in that we provide a direct comparison of the effect of exercise training on fitness outcomes through meta-analytic procedures. One potential reason for differential effects of exercise training on fitness outcomes might be related to the assessment of physical fitness. There was considerable variability in the type and quality of measures used to assess muscular fitness (e.g., peak force, peak torque, manual muscle test, maximum number of repetitions, etc.), compared to cardiorespiratory fitness (i.e., primarily VO<sub>2peak</sub> and W<sub>p</sub>). These measurement issues might have contributed to greater inconsistencies in the assessment of muscular strength, and therefore, a smaller overall effect of exercise training. Another factor that might have contributed to different effects of exercise training on muscular and cardiorespiratory fitness was the prescription of exercise training. Aerobic exercise was prescribed either independently or in combination with other modalities in the majority of studies reviewed (n = 15). Based on the specificity principle of exercise training we would expect greater adaptations in cardiorespiratory fitness since most studies involved an aerobic training component.

#### **Comparison with Meta-analyses of Other Outcomes**

There are several meta-analyses that have quantified the effect of exercise training on other outcomes that are important for persons with MS. Previous meta-analyses have reported

positive effects of exercise training on quality of life (g = 0.23), mobility (g = 0.19), depressive symptoms (g = 0.36), and fatigue (g = 0.45).<sup>14-17</sup> The effect of exercise training on muscular fitness (g = 0.27) was within the mid-range of previously reported effects on other outcomes, whereas the effect on cardiorespiratory fitness (g = 0.47) was larger than all of the previously reported effects. It was expected that exercise training would have a positive effect on physiological fitness outcomes, considering previous research on exercise training in MS, and fitness representing a direct consequence of exercise training. Collectively, the evidence from previous and current meta-analysis supports the beneficial effects of exercise training from fitness through participatory outcomes for people with MS.

### 2.5 Study Limitations

There are several limitations of the current literature involving exercise training in persons with MS. A primary limitation was that not all studies included an assessment of physical fitness, and therefore, these studies could not be included in this review. We believe that fitness measures should become a standard outcome of exercise training studies for quantifying fitness benefits as well as understanding the importance of fitness adaptations for other outcomes. There was some variability in the quality of tools used to quantify physical fitness (e.g., manual muscle testing using a hand-held dynamometer vs. isokinetic dynamometer machine), and this might have influenced the precision and accuracy of the overall pointestimates. Future researchers might consider optimizing the measurement of fitness outcomes in future RCTs by using gold standard assessments. Another limitation of the literature is that most studies of exercise training have not included individuals with MS with more severe mobility impairment. This limits the generalizability of these findings to persons with mild to moderate disability.

The 20 studies included in this meta-analysis were scored for quality using the Physiotherapy Evidence Database (PEDro) scale which ranges between 0 (lowest possible quality) and 10 (highest possible quality). A score of 6 on the PEDro scale has previously been established as the cut point for high-quality studies. All 20 studies scored 6 points or higher on the PEDro scale indicating good overall quality of the RCTs reviewed. Reasons for missing points on the PEDro scale commonly included failure to conceal allocation, failure to blind subjects or assessors, failure to retain participants, and failure to complete intention-to-treat analyses. These shortcomings should be addressed in future studies of exercise training in persons with MS to improve the quality of current research in this field.

## Limitations of the Meta Analysis

There are several limitations that should be considered when interpreting the results of this meta-analysis. The primary limitation of this study was that we only included RCTs. The inclusion of only RCTs resulted in high quality data, however, we might have failed to include valuable information from non-RCTs. This meta-analysis did not examine variability in exercise training modalities and other characteristics such as frequency, intensity, and duration of training. This was challenging based on the limited number of RCTs that have examined exercise training in persons with MS. It is also possible that this analysis is missing other important moderator variables that could influence the magnitude of the effect of exercise training on physical fitness.

# **2.6 Conclusion**

We conducted a meta-analysis of RCTs involving persons with MS that examined the effect of exercise training on muscular and cardiorespiratory fitness outcomes. Exercise training was associated with changes in muscular (small in magnitude) and cardiorespiratory (moderate in magnitude) fitness outcomes that approximated a 10% and 18% improvement, respectively. Subsequent research might examine the effect of improvements in muscular and cardiorespiratory fitness on brain structure, functions such as walking and cognition, and symptoms such as depression and fatigue in MS. Researchers can rely on the point estimates provided in this paper when designing clinical trials involving exercise training, and clinicians can provide a better estimate of actual improvements in fitness when developing exercise prescriptions for patients with MS.

# **Conflict of Interest**

None declared. The results of the present study do not constitute an endorsement by the ACSM.

#### Funding

This work was not funded by a particular source.

# **2.7 References**

- ACSM's Guidelines for Exercise Testing and Prescription 9th Ed. (Lippincott Williams and Wilkins, 2014).
- Bjarnadottir, O. H., Konradsdottir, A. D., Reynisdottir, K. & Olafsson, E. Multiple sclerosis and brief moderate exercise. A randomised study. *Mult. Scler.* 13, 776–782 (2007).
- Borenstein, M., Hedges, L. & Rothstein, H. Introduction to Meta-Analysis. (Wiley & Sons, 2009).
- 4. Briken, S. *et al.* Effects of exercise on fitness and cognition in progressive MS: a randomized, controlled pilot trial. *Mult. Scler.* 20, 382–390 (2014).
- Broekmans, T. *et al.* Effects of long-term resistance training and simultaneous electrostimulation on muscle strength and functional mobility in multiple sclerosis. *Mult. Scler.* 17, 468–477 (2011).
- 6. Cakt, B. D. *et al.* Cycling progressive resistance training for people with multiple sclerosis: a randomized controlled study. *Am J Phys Med Rehabil* 89, 446–457 (2010).
- Carroll, C. C., Gallagher, P. M., Seidle, M. E. & Trappe, S. W. Skeletal muscle characteristics of people with multiple sclerosis. *Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation* 86, 224–229 (2005).
- 8. Carter, A. M. *et al.* Pragmatic exercise intervention in people with mild to moderate multiple sclerosis: a randomised controlled feasibility study. *Contemp Clin Trials* 35, 40–47 (2013).
- 9. Cohen, J. *Statistical power analysis for the behavioral sciences (rev. ed.).* xv, (Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, Inc, 1977).
- Dalgas, U. *et al.* Fatigue, mood and quality of life improve in MS patients after progressive resistance training. *Mult. Scler.* 16, 480–490 (2010).

- Dalgas, U. *et al.* Muscle fiber size increases following resistance training in multiple sclerosis. *Mult. Scler.* 16, 1367–1376 (2010).
- DeBolt, L. S. & McCubbin, J. A. The effects of home-based resistance exercise on balance, power, and mobility in adults with multiple sclerosis. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil* 85, 290–297 (2004).
- Ensari, I., Motl, R. W. & Pilutti, L. A. Exercise training improves depressive symptoms in people with multiple sclerosis: results of a meta-analysis. *J Psychosom Res* 76, 465–471 (2014).
- Feinstein, A., Magalhaes, S., Richard, J.-F., Audet, B. & Moore, C. The link between multiple sclerosis and depression. *Nat Rev Neurol* 10, 507–517 (2014).
- Fimland, M. S., Helgerud, J., Gruber, M., Leivseth, G. & Hoff, J. Enhanced neural drive after maximal strength training in multiple sclerosis patients. *Eur. J. Appl. Physiol.* 110, 435–443 (2010).
- Frohman, E. M., Racke, M. K. & Raine, C. S. Multiple sclerosis--the plaque and its pathogenesis. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 354, 942–955 (2006).
- Golzari, Z., Shabkhiz, F., Soudi, S., Kordi, M. R. & Hashemi, S. M. Combined exercise training reduces IFN-γ and IL-17 levels in the plasma and the supernatant of peripheral blood mononuclear cells in women with multiple sclerosis. *Int. Immunopharmacol.* 10, 1415–1419 (2010).
- Hansen, D., Wens, I., Keytsman, C., Eijnde, B. O. & Dendale, P. Is long-term exercise intervention effective to improve cardiac autonomic control during exercise in subjects with multiple sclerosis? A randomized controlled trial. *Eur J Phys Rehabil Med* 51, 223–231 (2015).

- Harvey, L., Smith, A. D. & Jones, R. The effect of weighted leg raises on quadriceps strength, EMG parameters and functional activities in people with multiple sclerosis. *Physiotherapy* 85, 154–161 (1999).
- 20. Kjølhede, T., Vissing, K. & Dalgas, U. Multiple sclerosis and progressive resistance training: a systematic review. *Mult. Scler.* 18, 1215–1228 (2012).
- Koseoglu, B. F., Gokkaya, N. K. O., Ergun, U., Inan, L. & Yesiltepe, E. Cardiopulmonary and metabolic functions, aerobic capacity, fatigue and quality of life in patients with multiple sclerosis. *Acta Neurol. Scand.* 114, 261–267 (2006).
- 22. Lambert, C. P., Archer, R. L. & Evans, W. J. Muscle strength and fatigue during isokinetic exercise in individuals with multiple sclerosis. *Med Sci Sports Exerc* 33, 1613–1619 (2001).
- Langeskov-Christensen, M., Langeskov-Christensen, D., Overgaard, K., Møller, A. B. & Dalgas, U. Validity and reliability of VO<sub>2</sub>-max measurements in persons with multiple sclerosis. *J. Neurol. Sci.* 342, 79–87 (2014).
- 24. Latimer-Cheung, A. E. *et al.* Effects of exercise training on fitness, mobility, fatigue, and health-related quality of life among adults with multiple sclerosis: a systematic review to inform guideline development. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil* 94, 1800–1828.e3 (2013).
- 25. Learmonth, Y. C., Paul, L., Miller, L., Mattison, P. & McFadyen, A. K. The effects of a 12week leisure centre-based, group exercise intervention for people moderately affected with multiple sclerosis: a randomized controlled pilot study. *Clin Rehabil* 26, 579–593 (2012).
- Maher, C. G., Sherrington, C., Herbert, R. D., Moseley, A. M. & Elkins, M. Reliability of the PEDro scale for rating quality of randomized controlled trials. *Phys Ther* 83, 713–721 (2003).
- 27. Lipsey, M. & Wilson, D. Practical Meta-Analysis. (Sage Publications, 2001).

- 28. Medina-Perez, C., de Souza-Teixeira, F., Fernandez-Gonzalo, R. & de Paz-Fernandez, J. A. Effects of a resistance training program and subsequent detraining on muscle strength and muscle power in multiple sclerosis patients. *NeuroRehabilitation* 34, 523–530 (2014).
- Mostert, S. & Kesselring, J. Effects of a short-term exercise training program on aerobic fitness, fatigue, health perception and activity level of subjects with multiple sclerosis. *Mult. Scler.* 8, 161–168 (2002).
- 30. Motl, R. W. & Fernhall, B. Accurate prediction of cardiorespiratory fitness using cycle ergometry in minimally disabled persons with relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil* 93, 490–495 (2012).
- Motl, R. W. & Gosney, J. L. Effect of exercise training on quality of life in multiple sclerosis: a meta-analysis. *Mult Scler* 14, 129–135 (2008).
- 32. W Motl, R. The Importance of Physical Fitness in Multiple Sclerosis. *Journal of Novel Physiotherapies* 03, (2013).
- Motl, R. W. & Pilutti, L. A. The benefits of exercise training in multiple sclerosis. *Nat Rev Neurol* 8, 487–497 (2012).
- Nilsagård, Y. E., Forsberg, A. S. & von Koch, L. Balance exercise for persons with multiple sclerosis using Wii games: a randomised, controlled multi-centre study. *Mult. Scler.* 19, 209– 216 (2013).
- Petajan, J. H. *et al.* Impact of aerobic training on fitness and quality of life in multiple sclerosis. *Ann. Neurol.* 39, 432–441 (1996).
- Pilutti, L. A., Greenlee, T. A., Motl, R. W., Nickrent, M. S. & Petruzzello, S. J. Effects of exercise training on fatigue in multiple sclerosis: a meta-analysis. *Psychosom Med* 75, 575– 580 (2013).

- Prakash, R. S. *et al.* Cardiorespiratory fitness: A predictor of cortical plasticity in multiple sclerosis. *Neuroimage* 34, 1238–1244 (2007).
- Prakash, R. S., Snook, E. M., Motl, R. W. & Kramer, A. F. Aerobic fitness is associated with gray matter volume and white matter integrity in multiple sclerosis. *Brain Res.* 1341, 41–51 (2010).
- 39. Rampello, A. *et al.* Effect of aerobic training on walking capacity and maximal exercise tolerance in patients with multiple sclerosis: a randomized crossover controlled study. *Phys Ther* 87, 545–555 (2007).
- 40. Pilutti, L. & Motl, R. in *Resistance Training for the Prevention and Treatment of Chronic Disease* (Taylor and Francis).
- Ranadive, S. M. *et al.* Vascular dysfunction and physical activity in multiple sclerosis. *Med* Sci Sports Exerc 44, 238–243 (2012).
- 42. Sandroff, B. M., Sosnoff, J. J. & Motl, R. W. Physical fitness, walking performance, and gait in multiple sclerosis. *J. Neurol. Sci.* 328, 70–76 (2013).
- 43. Sandroff, B. M., Pilutti, L. A., Benedict, R. H. B. & Motl, R. W. Association between physical fitness and cognitive function in multiple sclerosis: does disability status matter? *Neurorehabil Neural Repair* 29, 214–223 (2015).
- 44. Schulz, K.-H. *et al.* Impact of aerobic training on immune-endocrine parameters, neurotrophic factors, quality of life and coordinative function in multiple sclerosis. *J. Neurol. Sci.* 225, 11–18 (2004).
- 45. Skjerbæk, A. G. *et al.* Endurance training is feasible in severely disabled patients with progressive multiple sclerosis. *Mult. Scler.* 20, 627–630 (2014).

- 46. Snook, E. M. & Motl, R. W. Effect of exercise training on walking mobility in multiple sclerosis: A meta-analysis. *Neurorehabil Neural Repair* (2008). doi:10.1177/1545968308320641
- Sosnoff, J., Motl, R. W., Snook, E. M. & Wynn, D. Effect of a 4-week period of unloaded leg cycling exercise on spasticity in multiple sclerosis. *NeuroRehabilitation* 24, 327–331 (2009).
- Stroup, D. F. *et al.* Meta-analysis of observational studies in epidemiology: a proposal for reporting. Meta-analysis of observational studies in epidemiology (MOOSE) group. *JAMA* 283, 2008–2012 (2000).
- 49. Surakka, J. *et al.* Effects of aerobic and strength exercise on motor fatigue in men and women with multiple sclerosis: a randomized controlled trial. *Clin Rehabil* 18, 737–746 (2004).
- 50. Verhagen, A. P. *et al.* The Delphi list: a criteria list for quality assessment of randomized clinical trials for conducting systematic reviews developed by Delphi consensus. *J Clin Epidemiol* 51, 1235–1241 (1998).

#### Chapter 3

# Physical fitness is associated with improved arterial function in persons with MS

Matthew Platta, Lara Pilutti, Brandon Kistler, Michelle Stratton, Kenneth Wilund, Rob Motl

# **3.1 Introduction**

Multiple sclerosis (MS) is an immune-mediated disease characterized by inflammation, demyelination, and axonal loss within the central nervous system (CNS).<sup>1</sup> MS is one of the most prevalent neurological diseases affecting 1 out of 1,000 adults in the United States.<sup>2</sup> Progressive inflammatory attacks within the CNS cause structural damage and transection of axons. Further, neurodegenerative processes result in axo-neuronal loss over the later course of the disease. This damage results in life-altering functional consequences which can be accompanied by cardiovascular comorbidity.

There is evidence for cardiovascular dysfunction in persons with MS. Previous research indicates decreased arterial function and increased markers of subclinical atherosclerosis in persons with MS compared to healthy controls<sup>3</sup>. For instance, one study reported decreased carotid arterial compliance and pulse wave velocity in 33 persons with MS compared to 33 healthy adults.<sup>3</sup> Autonomic dysfunction, as it affects the heart and circulatory function, can accompany cardiovascular dysfunction in persons with MS as well leading to impaired blood pressure variability and heart rate variability<sup>4</sup>. Cardiovascular comorbidities such as diabetes, hypertension, hypercholesterolemia, peripheral vascular disease are common in persons with MS and significantly increase the risk of disability progression.

Cardiorespiratory fitness (CRF) is one of the largest influencers of CV function in healthy people and when increased, can improve cardiovascular risk factors like insulin

sensitivity, decreases in fat mass, decreased markers of inflammation, and lower plasma triglycerides.<sup>5,6</sup> CRF refers to the body's ability to deliver, extract, and utilize oxygen for endurance exercise and is usually measured as peak aerobic capacity (VO<sub>2peak</sub>) and peak power output (W<sub>p</sub>). Muscular fitness (MF) which refers to the body's ability to generate and maintain muscular force via skeletal muscle contraction and is usually measured as muscular strength (e.g., peak force) and endurance (e.g., maximum repetitions) and has also been related to an improved risk factor profile. CRF and MF are impaired in persons with MS. In a study comparing CRF in 37 MS patients and 26 healthy controls VO<sub>2peak</sub> was demonstrated to be 28% lower in the MS sample.<sup>7</sup> Another study comparing MF in 15 MS patients and 15 healthy controls demonstrated lower peak torque production in knee flexors and extensors in persons with MS compared to healthy controls.<sup>8</sup>

In MS, deconditioning that accompanies disease progression, is associated with a loss of physiological fitness involving both CRF and MF. This loss of fitness in turn can further demote cardiovascular function and may contribute to both disability progression and increased risk of CVD<sup>9</sup>. The relationship between CV function and fitness has been well examined in healthy people. CRF has been inversely related with arterial stiffness measures in a sample of 405 young men and women.<sup>10</sup> Further, CRF is commonly associated with reductions in blood pressure, and improvements in cardiac output and circulatory vasodilation.<sup>11,12,13</sup> MF has been inversely related to arterial stiffness, positively related to compliance, and has been shown to modestly improve blood pressure.<sup>14</sup> CRF and MF have also been associated with a decreased risk for comorbidities such as metabolic syndrome, obesity and CVD in healthy populations.<sup>15,16</sup> Although evidence exists for CRF and MF having a positive relationship with CV function in healthy people, the relationships between CRF, MF and CV function in MS have not been determined.<sup>15,17</sup>

We examined the cross-sectional association between physiological fitness (CRF and MF) and CV function in a cohort of patients with MS. We hypothesized that both CRF and MF will be associated with CV function similar to research conducted in healthy people. This study will provide insight into the relationship between fitness and cardiovascular function in this clinical population and help identify targets for therapeutic intervention to promote cardiovascular function and a reduce comorbid disease risk in persons with MS.

### **3.2 Methods**

### Participants

Participants were recruited from the North American Research Committee on Multiple Sclerosis registry and from a database of participants from previous studies in our laboratory. Healthy controls were recruited from the local community. Criteria for inclusion were: 18-64 years old; relapse free for the last 30 days; Expanded Disability Status Scale (EDSS) <8.0; able to visit our laboratory for testing; minimal risk for engaging in physical activity based on the Physical Activity Readiness Questionnaire; physician's approval for participation and physician confirmation of MS diagnosis.<sup>18</sup> We made contact with 128 persons of which 86 were screen for inclusion. 25 individuals qualified, but were uninterested in participation and 4 individuals did not meet inclusion criteria. The final sample included 57 participants with MS.

## EDSS

Disability status was determined by EDSS (28 from main paper)\* examination by Neurostatuscertified assessors.

#### Brachial blood pressure

Following 10 minutes of quiet rest in a supine position, participants' resting systolic (SBP) and diastolic (DBP) blood pressures were taken at the brachial artery with an automated oscillometric cuff (HEM-907XL; Omron Corporation, Kyoto, Japan). Blood pressure measurements were taken in duplicate and averaged. When the recordings were not within 5 mmHg an additional measurement was taken.

### Cardiovascular function

Measures of cardiovascular function was collected in the supine position following 10 minutes of quiet rest. Applanation tonometry was performed using a high-fidelity strain gauge transducer (SphygmoCor, AtCor Medical, Sydney, Australia) on the right radial artery to obtain pressure waveforms. A central aortic pressure waveform was reconstructed from the radial artery pressure waveform using a generalized validated transfer function.<sup>59</sup> Aortic pulse pressure will be calculated by subtracting the aortic diastolic blood pressure (DBP) from the aortic systolic blood pressure (SBP). Central pulse wave velocity (cPWV) was calculated from the waveform at the right common carotid artery and right femoral artery using the same strain gauge transducer. HR was obtained simultaneously using a three-lead CM5 configuration. The distance in millimeters from the carotid artery to the suprasternal notch, and the suprasternal notch to the femoral artery was measured with a measuring tape. The carotid-suprasternal distance was subtracted from the suprasternal-femoral distance to account for differences in the direction of pulse wave propagation. cPWV will be calculated from the distances between measurement sites and the measured time delay between the proximal and distal waveforms.

### **Cardiorespiratory Fitness**

We determined cardiorespiratory fitness (VO<sub>2peak</sub>) using an incremental exercise test on a recumbent stepper (Nustep T5<sup>XR</sup> recumbent stepper, Nustep Inc., Ann Arbor, MI). Expired gases were collected using a two-way non rebreathable valve (Hans Rudolph Inc., Shawnee, KS) and oxygen consumption was measured using an open circuit spirometry system (TrueOne 2400, Parvo Medics, Sandy, UT). Participants performed a one minute warm-up at 15W . The resistance on the stepper was then gradually increased until the participant reached volitional fatigue. The intensity was increased by 10W/minute for participants with mild-to-moderate MS (EDSS 1.0-5.5) and 5W/minute for participants with severe MS (EDSS 6.0). Heart rate (Polar Electro Oy, Kempele, Finland) and rating of perceived exertion (RPE) were recorded each minute of the test.  $VO_{2peak}$  was expressed as ml/kg/min, with 20 second averaging. Criteria for  $VO_{2peak}$  involved at least one of the following: (1) respiratory exchange ratio  $\geq$ 1.10; (2) heart rate within 10 beats/minute of age-predicted maximum; or (3) RPE  $\geq$ 17.

# **Muscular Fitness**

Muscular strength was assessed bilaterally as peak torque of the knee extensors (KE) and flexors (KF) using an isokinetic muscle dynamometer (Biodex System 3 Dynamometer, Biodex Medical Systems, Inc., Shirley, NY). Participants performed three, 5 second maximal KE and one 5 second maximal KF at 60° and 90° flexed. A rest period of 5s was given between each attempt. Peak isometric strength was expressed in N·m and determined as the highest recorded value for each muscle group.

# Data analysis

Data were analyzed using SPSS Version 22.0 (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL). Values in the text are presented as mean (SD), unless otherwise noted. Participant characteristics were summarized

using descriptive statistics. We examined the relationship between CRF or MF and CV function measures using bivariate Pearson correlations (*r*). Statistical significance was set at p < .05.

#### **3.3 Results**

# CRF

Participant characteristics are presented in Table 4. Correlation coefficients are presented in table 5. Aortic pulse pressure (mmHg) was significantly correlated with relative VO<sub>2</sub> peak (r = -.288, p = .033) and peak power (r = -.268, p = .046). Augmentation pressure (mmHg) was significantly correlated with relative VO<sub>2</sub> peak (r = -.393, p = .003) and peak power (r = -.375, p = .004). Aortic transit time (msec) was significantly correlated with relative VO<sub>2</sub> peak (r = -.375, p = .004). Aortic transit time (msec) was significantly correlated with relative VO<sub>2</sub> peak (r = .545, p < .001) and peak power output (r = .537, p < .001). Aix (%) was significantly correlated with relative VO<sub>2</sub> peak (r = .502, p = .002) and peak power (r = -.447, p = .001). Aix at 75 bpm (%) was significantly correlated with relative VO<sub>2</sub> peak (r = .502, p = .002) and peak power (r = -.624, p < .001) and peak power (r = .561, p < .001). SEVR was significantly correlated with relative VO<sub>2</sub> peak (r = .290, p = 0.32) but not peak power. End systolic pressure (mmHg) was significantly correlated with relative VO<sub>2</sub> peak (r = .290, p = 0.32) but not peak power. Pulse wave velocity was not related to relative VO<sub>2</sub> peak or peak power.

### MF

Aortic pulse pressure (mmHg) was significantly correlated with extensor (r = -.346, p = .008) and flexor (r = -.347, p = .008) strength (Nm). Augmentation pressure (mmHg) was significantly correlated to extensor (r = -.346, p < .001) and flexor (r = -.464, p < .001) strength. Aortic transit time (msec) was significantly correlated with extensor (r = .601, p < .001) and flexor (r = .591, p < .001) strength. Aix (%) was significantly correlated with extensor (r = -.497, p < .001) and flexor (r = -.529, p < .001) strength. Aix at 75 bpm (%) was significantly correlated with

extensor (r = -.556, p < .001) and flexor (r = -.575, p < .001) strength. Pulse wave velocity (m·s<sup>-1</sup>) was significantly correlated with flexor (r = .297, p = .040) but not extensor strength.

### **3.4 Discussion**

We conducted a cross sectional analysis examining the relationships between fitness (CRF and MF) and arterial function in persons with MS of varying disability level. The main findings indicate that CRF and MF maintain significant relationships with CV function in persons with MS, including measures of arterial function and cardiac function. These findings are consistent with the previously mentioned hypothesis that CRF and MF are associative of better arterial function in persons with MS. Further, these relationships provide therapeutic targets to promote better cardiovascular health in MS by improving CRF and MF.

## CRF

VO<sub>2</sub> peak and peak power were significantly correlated with aortic PP, augmentation pressure, aortic transit time, and augmentation index. These findings indicate CRF is significantly associated with cardiovascular function in MS. Specifically, arterial stiffness and pressure aspects of the aortic waveform were found inversely related to CRF. This supports previous research on the relationship between CRF, arterial function, and cardiovascular morbidities in heathy people.<sup>19</sup> SEVR and EDP were significantly correlated with relative VO<sub>2</sub> peak, but not with PPO suggesting VO<sub>2</sub> peak is more strongly related to cardiac perfusion and aortic waveform pressures at the of systole than PPO. VO<sub>2</sub> peak is the gold standard measure of CRF and is a direct indicator of cardiovascular function which would explain its stronger correlations with arterial function outcomes.<sup>20</sup> PWV, the primary measure of arterial stiffness was not related to CRF or PPO. This is contrary to previous evidence on the relationship between VO<sub>2</sub> peak and

arterial stiffness in healthy populations<sup>10</sup>. Previous research has found young persons with MS to have compromised arterial stiffness. The relationship between MS and artieral stiffness may be less moderated by physical fitness than we have presumed do to disease symptoms such as inflammation and progression of MS.<sup>21</sup>

Improvements in CRF have long been associated with improved function within the cardiovascular system. In MS, increasing disability and lower levels of physical activity are responsible for decreasing fitness, which in turn, can affect arterial function and increase the likelihood of disease progression, comorbidity, and subsequently further disability. By augmenting CRF, this cycle of degenerating function and disability may be altered. In summary, CRF has a significant relationships to arterial and cardiac function. Through augmentations to CRF via exercise interventions, persons with MS may be able to improve their CV health and CV risk profile.

#### MF

Peak extensor torque (Nm) and flexor torque (Nm) were significantly correlated with aortic PP, augmentation pressure, aortic transit time, and augmentation index. These findings indicate MF to be significantly associated with cardiovascular function in MS. Similar to CRF, an inverse relationship exists between pressure aspects of the waveform, arterial stiffness, and MF. Along with this, PWV, the best marker for arterial stiffness, was positively correlated with flexor peak torque supporting previous evidence that MF is negatively associated with arterial stiffness.<sup>17</sup> Neither SEVR nor EDP were significantly associated with MF outcomes suggesting MF is not strongly related to cardiac perfusion or end systolic pressure in persons with MS.

Conflicting evidence exists regarding the relationship between MF and CV function. More recent evidence suggests a positive relationship exists between MF and CV function.<sup>10,17</sup> Resistance training (RT) has also been suggested for metabolic, blood pressure, and musculoskeletal improvements.<sup>14</sup> RT has also been shown to improve muscular fitness (citations from Rob/Lara review), balance, ambulation, and fatigue in persons with MS. These additional benefits along with improvements in muscular fitness suggest RT to have a potential effect on cardiovascular health in MS albeit less than aerobic exercise. Future research should continue to determine the effects of RT on cardiovascular function in MS persons in order to further clarify this.

# 3.5 Study Limitations

Limitations of this cross sectional study involving fitness and CV function in MS also exist. First, this study is a cross sectional study and fails to establish cause and effect relationships between fitness and CV function in MS. Therefore, it is recommend that future research should examine the effect of exercise training on fitness and CV function using a RCT design to establish cause and effect. Second, this sample involved persons with varying levels of disability of MS. The difference in disability level can influence fitness and CV function and makes generalizability of this study more difficult. Another limitation involves this CV measures taking recordings as a result of mathematical algorithms instead of direct measurement of fluid dynamics within the cardiovascular system. This CV measurements have been well validated in healthy people but may suffer precision as opposed to more invasive measurements of CV function.<sup>22,23</sup> Although participants were asked to control their diet via fasting there have no guarantee that CV outcomes were not influenced by nutrition or ingestion of drugs such as caffeine and nicotine prior to assessments. Lastly, since CV measures for men were taken by a

male researcher and women were taken by a female researcher, inter-tester reliability may be a limitation.

#### **3.6 Conclusion**

In this study, the relationship between fitness and CV function in persons with MS of varying disability was examined. It can be concluded that both CRF and MF are correlated with better CV function in persons with MS. Relative to CRF, this result is not surprising, and supports to the concept that improving CRF might improve CV function in persons with MS. The best way to achieve these adaptations are through aerobic exercise training which has numerous established benefits for persons with MS. Further research, including intervention studies, should be conducted in order to determine the effects of aerobic training on CV function in persons with MS. MF was also positively correlated with both pressure outcomes and arterial stiffness. With more recent evidence confirming better CV function to be related to better MF, further research should be conducted to determine the effect of resistance training on CV function in persons with MS. In summary, CRF and MF are associated with better CV function in persons with MS and augmenting fitness with aerobic and/or resistance training may be a viable therapy to improve CV function and comorbidity in persons with MS.

#### **3.7 References**

- Frohman, E. M., Racke, M. K. & Raine, C. S. Multiple sclerosis--the plaque and its pathogenesis. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 354, 942–955 (2006).
- Page, W. F., Kurtzke, J. F., Murphy, F. M. & Norman, J. E. Epidemiology of multiple sclerosis in U.S. veterans: V. Ancestry and the risk of multiple sclerosis. *Ann. Neurol.* 33, 632–639 (1993).

- Ranadive, S. M. *et al.* Vascular dysfunction and physical activity in multiple sclerosis. *Med* Sci Sports Exerc 44, 238–243 (2012).
- Haensch, D. C.-A. & Jörg, P. D. J. Autonomic dysfunction in multiple sclerosis. *J Neurol* 253, i3–i9 (2006).
- 5. Short, K. R. *et al.* Impact of aerobic exercise training on age-related changes in insulin sensitivity and muscle oxidative capacity. *Diabetes* 52, 1888–1896 (2003).
- 6. Myers, J. Exercise and cardiovascular health. *Circulation* 107, e2–e5 (2003).
- Mostert, S. & Kesselring, J. Effects of a short-term exercise training program on aerobic fitness, fatigue, health perception and activity level of subjects with multiple sclerosis. *Mult. Scler.* 8, 161–168 (2002).
- 8. Lambert, C. P., Archer, R. L. & Evans, W. J. Muscle strength and fatigue during isokinetic exercise in individuals with multiple sclerosis. *Med Sci Sports Exerc* 33, 1613–1619 (2001).
- 9. Marrie, R. A. *et al.* Vascular comorbidity is associated with more rapid disability progression in multiple sclerosis. *Neurology* 74, 1041–1047 (2010).
- Boreham, C. A. *et al.* Cardiorespiratory fitness, physical activity, and arterial stiffness The Northern Ireland young hearts project. *Hypertension* 44, 721–726 (2004).
- 11. Whelton, S. P., Chin, A., Xin, X. & He, J. Effect of aerobic exercise on blood pressure: a meta-analysis of randomized, controlled trials. *Ann. Intern. Med.* 136, 493–503 (2002).
- Beere, P. A., Russell, S. D., Morey, M. C., Kitzman, D. W. & Higginbotham, M. B. Aerobic exercise training can reverse age-related peripheral circulatory changes in healthy older men. *Circulation* 100, 1085–1094 (1999).

- Maiorana, A. *et al.* Effect of aerobic and resistance exercise training on vascular function in heart failure. *American Journal of Physiology - Heart and Circulatory Physiology* 279, H1999–H2005 (2000).
- Braith, R. W. & Stewart, K. J. Resistance exercise training its role in the prevention of cardiovascular disease. *Circulation* 113, 2642–2650 (2006).
- Kodama, S. *et al.* Cardiorespiratory fitness as a quantitative predictor of all-cause mortality and cardiovascular events in healthy men and women: a meta-analysis. *JAMA* 301, 2024– 2035 (2009).
- Katzmarzyk, P. T., Church, T. S., Janssen, I., Ross, R. & Blair, S. N. Metabolic syndrome, obesity, and mortality: impact of cardiorespiratory fitness. *Diabetes Care* 28, 391–397 (2005).
- Fahs, C. A., Heffernan, K. S., Ranadive, S., Jae, S. Y. & Fernhall, B. Muscular strength is inversely associated with aortic stiffness in young men: *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise* 42, 1619–1624 (2010).
- Thomas, S., Reading, J. & Shephard, R. J. Revision of the physical activity readiness questionnaire (PAR-Q). *Can J Sport Sci* 17, 338–345 (1992).
- 19. Turesson, C. & Matteson, E. L. Cardiovascular risk factors, fitness and physical activity in rheumatic diseases. *Curr Opin Rheumatol* 19, 190–196 (2007).
- Grant, S., Corbett, K., Amjad, A. M., Wilson, J. & Aitchison, T. A comparison of methods of predicting maximum oxygen uptake. *Br J Sports Med* 29, 147–152 (1995).
- Cecilie Fjeldstad, C. F. Arterial compliance in multiple sclerosis: A pilot study. *Angiology* 61, 31–6 (2009).

- 22. Wilkinson, I. B. *et al.* Reproducibility of pulse wave velocity and augmentation index measured by pulse wave analysis. *J. Hypertens.* 16, 2079–2084 (1998).
- 23. Chen, C.-H. *et al.* Estimation of central aortic pressure waveform by mathematical transformation of radial tonometry pressure validation of generalized transfer function. *Circulation* 95, 1827–1836 (1997).

#### Chapter 4

### Discussion

This thesis describes the relationships between multiple sclerosis (MS), physiological fitness, cardiovascular (CV) function, and exercise. First a meta-analyses was used to determine the magnitude of effect of exercise training on cardiorespiratory fitness (CRF) and muscular fitness (MF). The purpose of this meta-analyses was help clarify the efficacy of exercise training programs on CRF and MF in persons with MS. Without this systematic quantification of studies using exercise as an intervention effects, it would be difficult to determine whether or not benefits of exercise that have been shown to occur with training in MS are resultant of the physiological adaptations to fitness that come with aerobic and resistance training. It is important to determine if fitness adaptations can be expected to accompany MS related benefits following exercise training. Secondly, a cross sectional design was used to examine the relationship between CRF, MF and CV function in persons with MS. Arterial function in MS is not thoroughly examined and its relationship with physiological fitness has not been described in this clinical population. It is important for determining the potential efficacy that improving CRF and MF, through exercise intervention, can have on persons with MS. Overall, the results of these two studies have provided clinically relevant information that can help the development of future research protocols and applied exercise programming involving persons with MS.

The meta-analyses examined 20 randomized controlled trials (RCTS) of which 63 effects sizes (ES) were calculated. These 20 studies were rated for quality according to the Physiotherapy Evidence Database Scale (PEDro) scale involves a checklist of 10 scale allowing for assessment of low quality (1) and high quality (10) criteria within each study. Failure to conceal allocation, failure to blind subjects or assessors, failure to retain participants, and failure

to complete intention-to-treat analyses are common methodological failures for which points are deducted from RCTs. A score of 6 has been previously established as the cut point for high quality RCT's of which all 20 RCT's in this meta-analyses achieved.<sup>1</sup> Therefore, the results of this analysis are drawn from studies of higher methodical quality.

Of the fourteen studies with MF measures, eleven showed a positive effect of exercise training on MF. For MF outcomes, the overall mean ES was 0.27 (SE=0.05, 95% CI=0.17-0.38, z=5.05, p<.001) suggesting a small but significant effect of exercise training on MF outcomes. Of the ten studies with CRF measures, nine showed a positive effect of exercise training on CRF. For CRF outcomes, the overall mean ES was 0.47 (SE=0.09, 95% CI=0.30-0.65, z=5.40, p<.001) suggesting a moderate and significant effect of exercise training on CRF.

The results were quantified into a clinically meaningful metric for both CRF and MF. The ESs for VO<sub>2peak</sub>, (SD = 7.25), peak knee extensor, and flexor torque (Nm, SDs = 52.41 and 24.75, respectively) were multiplied by their SDs resulting an average increase in VO<sub>2peak</sub> of 3.41 ml/kg/min or 17.7% change. The improvements for extensor and flexor strength were 14.15 and 6.69 Nms and their percent changes were 9.5% and 11.6% respectively. Overall, the improvements calculated are not substantial nor minimal. CRF improvements above 10% change in VO<sub>2peak</sub> have been deemed clinically relevant previously.<sup>2</sup> Participants analyzed achieved an average improvement to CRF well above this threshold indicating aerobic exercise training to be a clinically relevant intervention for achieving improvements in CRF in MS. Improvements to muscular fitness were approximately 10% for both extensors and flexors. Even small improvements in muscular fitness can have clinically relevant effects on mobility and stability in MS and these improvements indicate the efficacy of resistance training for improving MF in MS.

In this study, a cross sectional examination of the relationships between cardiovascular function, physiological fitness and MS in 57 participants with MS was conducted. Blood pressure, arterial function, and arterial stiffness, and cardiac perfusion were measured. Fitness measures included a  $VO_{2peak}$  test on a recumbent stepper and max strength test on an isokinetic dynamometer. The main finding of this cross sectional analysis indicate the CRF and MF are positively correlated with better arterial function in persons with MS. These relationships have not been thoroughly examined in MS and are novel since they provide a potential therapeutic target to promote cardiovascular health in MS. Since aerobic and resistance training have each been shown to benefit persons with MS it would further highlight them as possible interventions for another important health factor such as cardiovascular health.

Cardiorespiratory fitness measures including relative VO<sub>2peak</sub> and peak power output (PPO) were significantly correlated with aortic pulse pressure, augmentation pressure, aortic transit time, and augmentation index. According to the finding that CRF is related to better arterial functioning it can be concluded that CRF is a predictor of these outcomes. Both arterial stiffness and pressure aspects of the aortic waveform were found to be better in MS patients with better CRF. Further, Subendocardial viability ratio (SEVR) and end diastolic pressure (EDP) were significantly correlated with relative VO<sub>2peak</sub> but not PPO suggesting VO<sub>2peak</sub> is a better predictor of cardiac perfusion and aortic pressures than PPO. This is understandable since VO<sub>2peak</sub> is known as the gold standard for CRF assessment and is a direct indicator of CV function. While significantly correlations occurred between CRF and many CV outcomes, the gold standard for arterial stiffness, pulse wave analysis (PWV) was not found to be significantly related to CRF. The explanation for this is lacking as a previous cross sectional examination of CV function in healthy populations showed an indirect relationship between VO<sub>2peak</sub> and arterial

stiffness.<sup>3</sup> As mentioned, CRF is a well-established indicator of CV function in healthy people. MS diagnosis is eventually accompanied by increasing disability and decreasing PA along with physiological deconditioning which further decrease CRF. These effects on CRF then can in turn affect CV function, promoting a more chronically stressed CV system and may lead to increases in disease progression and comorbidity or even CVD. This research illustrates the importance of CRF in preventing this downward progression involving MS and CV health.

MF was also found to be related to CV function in MS. Specifically, extensor peak torque and flexor peak torque were each significantly correlated with aortic pulse pressure, augmentation pressure, aortic transit time, and augmentation index. These results suggest MF is also a predictor of CV function in persons with MS. However, MF was also significantly correlated with arterial stiffness in the PWV measures indicating MF is negatively associated predictor of arterial stiffness in MS. In contrast to CRF, MF was not found to have positive correlations with SEVR or EDP suggesting MF is not a good predictor of cardiac perfusion or pressures at the end of diastole in persons with MS. The relationship between MF and CV function has been difficult as there is conflicting evidence available. More recent research has suggested no relationship or a positive relationship exists between MF and CV function.<sup>4,5,6,7</sup> Better MF may be responsible for lessening the cardiovascular burden by affecting risk factors (such as BP, HDL, body fat, inflammation, insulin sensitivity, and lean tissue) and therefore may reduce risk of CVD.

These results provide evidence for the strength of the relationships between CRF, MF and CV function in persons with MS. These results also support the potential for exercise to improve CV function in MS through exercise adaptations. Such adaptations will likely lead to adaptations in CV function that have been long established by research done with healthy people following

regular exercise training. Such improvements include better insulin sensitivity, decreases in fat mass, decreased markers of inflammation, and lower plasma triglycerides <sup>8,9</sup>. These can be highly influential to overall cardiovascular health and influential to one's disposition to CVD. Improvements to MF that accompany regular resistance training can also have beneficial effects on these risk factors as previously mentioned. Further, benefits to cardiovascular health are common following regular exercise training in healthy populations but have not been tested in persons with MS.

These two studies provide evidence of an inherent relationship between fitness and CV function in MS. This relationship has been previously established in healthy people and other clinical populations but had not been thoroughly examined in persons with MS. Persons with MS have been shown to have more CV dysfunction than healthy people and are more prone to developing vascular comorbidity also. This results show that physiological fitness (CRF and MF) in persons with MS is 1. Augmentable via exercise and 2. A mediator of CV function. This is important because exercise has a large body of literature to draw from when attempting to determine exercise's effects on CV function in healthy population. If this evidence is also relative to MS in terms of the anticipated adaptations that can be expected from regular exercise training then CV function can be improved by adoption of regular exercise in persons with MS. The implications of improving CV function can be of great benefit to longevity and maintenance of MS and to the prevention of MS disease progression.

Although the results of this meta-analysis and cross sectional study are pertinent to developing options for therapy there remain limitations within this research. When developing a meta-analysis a primary limitation found in the literature is the failure by researchers to effectively measure physiological fitness or not measure it at all. This makes assessing the

effects of exercise on fitness impossible for those studies even though they may have used exercise as an intervention. These articles are unusable for this analysis. For this reason, it is suggested physical fitness measures be implemented in any study that involves an exercise training intervention in MS. Standardizing these measures in exercise training studies would provide knowledge of exercise training effects on fitness which is directly related to different outcomes in MS. Another limitation to the meta-analysis involved the variability of the quality of tools used to assess fitness adaptations which may have influenced the precision and accuracy of the effects of exercise on CRF and MF. For example, muscle testing assessed via hand held dynamometer is not as accurate in comparison to muscle testing assessed via an isokinetic dynamometer. For this reason, it is suggested that optimizing measurements of fitness outcomes in future studies should be done by using gold standard assessments for determining fitness changes following exercise in MS. Another limitations comes from a lack of diversity of severity among participants recruited for research. The majority of research has been done with participants who have more severe impairment and therefore it's more difficult to generalize this findings across all people with MS. The meta-analysis was also limited by a low number of RCTs available for analysis. The 20 studies were considered high quality according to PEDro scoring but a larger sample for analysis would strengthen analysis and support overall ES calculations. Another limitation was that this meta-analysis did not examine variability in exercise training modalities and other characteristics such as frequency, intensity, and duration of training. Lastly, it is possible that this analysis failed to determine certain moderator variables that could influence the magnitude of the ES that exercise had on fitness.

# 4.1 Limitations

Limitations of this cross sectional study involving fitness and CV function in MS also exist. First, this study is a cross sectional study and fails to establish cause and effect relationships between fitness and CV function in MS. Therefore, it is recommended that future research should examine the effect of exercise training on fitness and CV function using a RCT design to establish cause and effect. Second, this sample involved persons with varying levels of disability of MS. The difference in disability level can influence fitness and CV function and makes generalizability of this study more difficult. Another limitation involves this CV measures taking recordings as a result of mathematical algorithms instead of direct measurement of fluid dynamics within the cardiovascular system. This CV measurements have been well validated in healthy people but may suffer precision as opposed to more invasive measurements of CV function.<sup>10,11</sup> Although participants were asked to control their diet via fasting there is no guarantee that CV outcomes were not influenced by nutrition or ingestion of drugs such as caffeine and nicotine prior to assessments. Lastly, since CV measures for men were taken by a male researcher and women were taken by a female researcher, inter-tester reliability may be a limitation.

# **4.2 Future Directions**

Future research is needed to continue to elucidate the relationships between MS, physiological fitness and CV function and exercise. Differences in MS functionality that manifest externally become quite clear with disease progression but less obvious changes to other internal body system functions and their potential impairment, such as CV impairment, are equally important to address. CV function is addressed clinically and through research in healthy

populations and other clinical populations consistently but has received less attention in those with MS. In order to address and adequately treat physiological changes that occur with MS, is it important to determine the relationships between CV function and physiological fitness in MS and how this relationship impacts CV outcomes among other health outcomes followed regular exercise training. Future RCTs could aim to determine this with a carefully designed study utilizing aerobic exercise and taking CV function measures such as arterial stiffness, arterial wave reflection, and measuring morphological change like intima media thickness. Evidence provided by this meta-analyses and cross sectional examination is the foundation for developing these future protocols. With further evidence corroborating these relationships researchers and clinicians can be confident in designing exercise programming that benefits persons with MS in order to achieve the previously established benefits exercise has on MS as well as potential CV benefits.

# 4.3 Conclusion

The extent of this literature review and discussion provide an analysis of evidence regarding the relationships between MS, physiological fitness, CV function, and exercise. Overall, this research suggests exercise training interventions have an effect on CRF and MF in persons with MS. Further, it is determined that significant relationships exist between both CRF and MF and CV function in persons with MS. These relationships indicate an inverse relationship exists between fitness and CV function and provides insight to physiological fitness being a potential target of therapy that could result in CV benefits and improved cardiovascular risk profiles in persons with MS. This conclusion supports previous evidence on the efficacy of exercise training for functional benefits in MS. However, a little evidence exists on the topic of

fitness and CV function in persons with MS it is important that future researchers examine cause and effect relationships that may exist between exercise training and CV function in MS patients. This can be achieved via RCTs using this cross sectional study as a foundation for protocol development.

# 4.4 References

- Maher, C. G., Sherrington, C., Herbert, R. D., Moseley, A. M. & Elkins, M. Reliability of the PEDro scale for rating quality of randomized controlled trials. *Phys Ther* 83, 713–721 (2003).
- Langeskov-Christensen, M., Langeskov-Christensen, D., Overgaard, K., Møller, A. B. & Dalgas, U. Validity and reliability of VO<sub>2</sub>-max measurements in persons with multiple sclerosis. *J. Neurol. Sci.* 342, 79–87 (2014).
- Boreham, C. A. *et al.* Cardiorespiratory fitness, physical activity, and arterial stiffness The Northern Ireland young hearts project. *Hypertension* 44, 721–726 (2004).
- Fahs, C. A., Heffernan, K. S., Ranadive, S., Jae, S. Y. & Fernhall, B. Muscular strength is inversely associated with aortic stiffness in young men: *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise* 42, 1619–1624 (2010).
- Heffernan, K. S. *et al.* Resistance exercise training reduces central blood pressure and improves microvascular function in African American and white men. *Atherosclerosis* 207, 220–226 (2009).
- Casey, D. P., Pierce, G. L., Howe, K. S., Mering, M. C. & Braith, R. W. Effect of resistance training on arterial wave reflection and brachial artery reactivity in normotensive postmenopausal women. *Eur. J. Appl. Physiol.* 100, 403–408 (2007).

- Cortez-Cooper, M. Y. *et al.* The effects of strength training on central arterial compliance in middle-aged and older adults. *Eur J Cardiovasc Prev Rehabil* 15, 149–155 (2008).
- Ford, E. S. Does exercise reduce inflammation? Physical activity and C-reactive protein among U.S. adults. *Epidemiology* 13, 561–568 (2002).
- Short, K. R. *et al.* Impact of aerobic exercise training on age-related changes in insulin sensitivity and muscle oxidative capacity. *Diabetes* 52, 1888–1896 (2003).
- 10. Wilkinson, I. B. *et al.* Reproducibility of pulse wave velocity and augmentation index measured by pulse wave analysis. *J. Hypertens.* 16, 2079–2084 (1998).
- Chen, C.-H. *et al.* Estimation of central aortic pressure waveform by mathematical transformation of radial tonometry pressure validation of generalized transfer function. *Circulation* 95, 1827–1836 (1997).

# Chapter 5

# **Figures and Tables**




**Figure 2**. Average effect size, standard errors, and upper and lower limit of effects from 14 studies included in the muscular fitness outcomes meta-analyses. CI = confidence interval.

Study name	Statistics for each study						
	Hedges's g	Stan dard error	Lower limit	Upper limit			
Sosnoff et al.	-0.22	0.43	-1.07	0.62			
Nilsagard et al.	-0.08	0.22	-0.52	0.35			
Harvey et al.	-0.02	0.29	-0.59	0.56			
Skjerbæck et al.	0.02	0.63	-1.22	1.26			
Petajan et al.	0.24	0.09	0.07	0.41			
Medina-Perez et al.	0.26	0.17	-0.08	0.59			
Dalgas et al.	0.27	0.36	-0.43	0.98			
Dalgas et al	0.35	0.18	-0.00	0.71			
Broekmans et al.	0.37	0.17	0.03	0.71			
Debolt et al.	0.40	0.34	-0.26	1.06			
Surakka et al.	0.40	0.15	0.11	0.69			
Fimland et al.	0.69	0.55	-0.39	1.76			
Golzari et al.	1.15	0.48	0.21	2.10			
Learmonth et al.	1.32	1.28	-1.19	3.84			
	0.27	0.05	0.17	0.38			



Favorable effect of strength training

-2.00

**Figure 3**. Average effect size, standard errors, and upper and lower limit of effects from 10 studies included in the cardiorespiratory fitness outcomes meta-analyses. CI = confidence interval.





-2.00

Effect of aerobic exercise training

## TABLES

**TABLE 1**. Study quality, sample size, number, average and range of effect sizes for muscular and cardiorespiratory fitness, and training mode for the 20 studies included in the meta-analysis.

				<u>Muscular</u>	<u>(</u>	Cardiorespiratory				
Ref #	PEDro Score	n	# of Effects	Average Effect (range)	# of Effects	Average Effect (range)	Mode	Time (Min)	Frequency (x/Wk)	Duration (Wks)
2	6	16	0	N/A	3	0.69 (0.65 - 0.77)	Combined	60	3	5
4	7	42	0	N/A	3	0.48 (0.33 - 0.72)	Aerobic	14-45	2-3	8-10
6	7	33	0	N/A	4	0.61 (-0.33 - 1.41)	Combined	60	5	20
8	7	30	0	N/A	1	1.41	Combined	60	3	10
17	6	20	1	1.10	1	-0.46	Combined	60	3	8
29	6	25	0	N/A	2	0.61 (0.61)	Aerobic	30	5	3-4
35	7	46	12	0.24 (0.04 - 0.57)	2	0.59 (0.55 - 0.62)	Aerobic	40-50	3	15
45	9	10	0	N/A	1	0.89	Aerobic	NR	2-3	4
44	8	28	0	N/A	1	-0.04	Aerobic	30	2	8
18	7	23	0	N/A	2	-0.61 (-1.120.10)	Mixed	NR	2-3	24
28	6	42	4	0.25 (0 - 0.43)	0	N/A	Resistance	NR	2	12
5	7	23	6	0.36 (-0.01 – 0.49)	0	N/A	Resistance	60	2-3	20

10	8	31	4	0.35 ( 0.10 – 0.56)	0	N/A	Resistance	NR	2	12
Table 1 (co	ont.)									
11	7	31	1	0.27	0	N/A	Resistance	NR	2	12
12	7	36	1	0.39	0	N/A	Resistance	NR	3	8
15	6	14	1	0.64	0	N/A				
19	6	19	4	-0.01 (-0.34 – 0.39)	0	N/A	Resistance;	40	2	6
							other			
25	7	28	1	1.28	0	N/A	Combined	60	2	12
34	7	80	1	-0.08	0	N/A	Combined	30	2	6-7
49	6	95	4	-0.31 (-0.54 -	0	N/A	Mixed	NR	3-5	26
				-0.74)						
47	6	22	1	-0.22	0	N/A	Aerobic	30	2	8

NR = not reported.

Moderator	Type (# of studies)	Point estimate (SE)	Z –value (p)	Q <sub>b</sub> (df)
Program type	Resistance only (3)	0.32 (0.15)	2.14*	0.10 (1)
	Combined (11)	0.27 (0.06)	4.34**	
Type of outcome	Strength (13)	0.31 (0.06)	5.42**	3.96* (1)
measure	Endurance (3)	-0.05 (0.17)	-0.29	
Type of	Isokinetic (10)	0.28 (0.06)	5.03**	0.07 (1)
measurement device	Other (4)	0.39 (0.38)	1.03	
Progression	Progression (10)	0.33 (0.07)	4.47**	1.33 (1)
	No progression (4)	0.21 (0.08)	2.62*	
Sample size	40 or less (10)	0.33 (0.10)	3.42**	0.48 (1)
	< 40 participants (4)	0.25 (0.07)	3.50**	
Supervision	Completely supervised	0.27 (0.06)	4.44**	0.00(1)
	(10)	0.28 (0.13)	2.19*	
	Partially or			
	unsupervised (4)			

TABLE 2. Muscular outcomes random–effects moderator ana	ysis.*	p<.05,	**p<.001.
---	--------	--------	-----------

Moderator	Type (# of studies)	Point estimate (SE)	Z-value (p)	Q <sub>b</sub> (df)	
Type of	VO <sub>2</sub> (10)	0.37 (0.14)	2.72*	1.08 (2)	
cardiorespiratory outcome measure <sup>+</sup>	Work (7)	0.50 (0.16)	3.11*		
	Other (6)	0.65 (0.26)	2.49*		
Exercise type	Aerobic (7)	0.50 (0.10)	5.04**	0.32 (1)	
	Other (3)	0.31 (0.31)	0.99		
Exercise modality	Cycle (5)	0.53 (0.11)	5.02**		
	Other (3)	0.10 (0.37)	0.28	1.27 (1)	
Exercise intensity	Moderate (4)	0.60 (0.14)	4.40**	0.50(1)	
	High (4)	0.48 (0.13)	3.80**		
Sample size	< 25 participant (7)	0.49 (0.21)	2.38*	0.04 (1)	
	25 or more (4)	0.44 (0.12)	3.62**		
Supervision	Supervised (9)	0.55 (0.13)	4.43**	3.2 (1)	
	Partially or	0.03 (0.25)	0.10	(p=0.06)	
	unsupervised (2)				

**TABLE 3.** Cardiorespirtory outcomes random-effects moderator analysis.\* p<.05,</th>\*\*p<.001.+subgroup as unit of analysis was used.</td>

## Table 4. Participant Characteristics

	MS (n = 57)
Age (yr)	51.58 (7.99)
Sex (F/M)	39/18
Disease type	43/13
(relapsing/progressive)	
Height (cm)	170.41 (10.26)
Weight (kg)	78.74 (20.03)
Years diagnosed (yr)	13.55 (8.93)
SBP (mmHg)	121.40 (23.79)
DBP (mmHg)	75.68 (10.46)
HR (bpm)	65.07 (10.43)

## Table 5.

Correlation coefficients between aerobic capacity and muscular strength in the overall MS sample.						
CV outcome	Relative VO <sub>2</sub> peak	Peak power output (W)	Extensors 60° (Nm)	Flexors 60° (Nm)		
	(ml/kg/min)					
Aortic PP (mmHg)	288 (p = .033)	268 (p = .046)	346 (p = .008)	347 (p = .008)		
Augmentation Pressure	393 (p = .003)	375 (p = .004)	455 (p < .001)	464 (p <.001)		
(mmHg)						
Aortic T1 (msec)	.376 (p = .005)	.376 (p = .005)	.364 (p = .008)	.448 (p < .001)		
Aortic Tr (msec)	.545 (p < .001)	.537 (p < .001)	.601 (p < .001)	.591 ( p < .001)		
Aix (%)	502 (p = .002)	447 (p = .001)	497 (p < .001)	529 (p < .001)		
Aix 75 bpm (%)	624 (p < .001)	561 (p <.001)	556 (p < .001)	575 (p < .001)		
SEVR	.290 (p = .032)	.223 (p = .099)	.079 (p = .558)	.117 (p = .385)		
End systolic pressure	312 (p = .021)	194 (p = .153)	237 (p = .076)	247 (p = .064)		
(mmHg)						
Pulse wave velocity (m·s <sup>-</sup>	.057 (p = .707)	.172 (p = .247)	.226 (p = .123)	.297 (p = .040)		
1)						